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CRE’S OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE IMPROVED IN
2020 AS WIND CAPACITY INCREASED 10%

China’s economy suffered through a tumultuous year but ended on
a strong note. In the first half of the year, because of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), power demand decreased 1.3% year on
year to 3,354,700 Giga-Watt-hours (“GWh”). However, by the end of
the year, the government’s successful control of COVID-19 enabled
the economy to recover dramatically. As a result, power demand for
the full year actually ended up showing growth of 3% to 7,511,000
GWh.

Construction of CRE’s Songxian Wind Farm was fully completed
in 2020. Revenue contribution from the entire wind farm started in
May 2020. As at 31 December 2020, with the inclusion of the new
Songxian Wind Farm, the Group now has eight wind farms and one
distributed solar project under operation with a total gross power
generating capacity of 738 Mega-Watt (“MW”). Net power generating
capacity has increased 10% to 427 MW.

At the same time, CRE has continued to improve efficiencies of
its existing wind farms by reducing costs and curtailment. In 2014,
CRE’s overall curtailment was at 12.2%. However, in 2020, overall
curtailment had dropped to 4.5%. Curtailment dropped particularly
sharply at Mudanjiang, Siziwang Qi and Lunaobao, with Mudanjiang
going from 19% in 2016 to 1% in 2020, Siziwang Qi going from 30%
in 2016 to 12% in 2020, and Lunaobao going from 31% in 2014 to
16% in 2020.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETEHRESE

WITH IMPROVED PERFORMANCE, HIGHER WIND
CAPACITY, AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS, NET
PROFIT IMPROVED 50%, DESPITE POOR WIND
CONDITIONS

For 2020, wind conditions at CRE’s wind farms were below
expectations. However, despite the poor wind conditions, lower
curtailment, improved operational efficiencies, and the increased
revenues from the additional capacity from Songxian helped
significantly boost CRE’s financial performance. Revenues increased
by 14% to HK$206.1 million, compared to last year's HK$181.2 million.
Gross profit rose 12% to HK$77.1 milion (2019: HK$68.6 million).
The company also benefitted from an exchange gain because of
the appreciation of the Renminbi. As a result of this gain and the
improvement in the company’s operations, CRE’s net profit after tax
attributable to the equity holders of the Group increased 50% to
HK$86.2 million or earnings per share of HK3.44 cents.

The Group had total assets of HK$2,904.3 million as of 31 December
2020 and its cash position remained healthy, with cash in the bank
of HK$192.9 million. Net asset value per share, defined as equity
attributable to equity holders of the Group divided by weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue, increased to HK76.4
cents.

EXPECT CHINA TO CONTINUE TO SUPPORT
RENEWABLE ENERGY

Looking forwards, with the election of Joe Biden as President of
the United States (“U.S.”) and the country’s re-entry into the Paris
Agreement, the emphasis on renewable energy around the world
will accelerate. The importance of reducing global warming is one
of the few areas that China and the U.S. commonly agree on, so
we expect China to continue in its efforts to increase the role of
renewable energy in its economy and CRE should benefit. For 2021,
CRE will benefit from the full year operations of Songxian and expects
curtailment to continue dropping.
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- Chairman’s Statement

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my greatest thanks to
all our business partners, employees, management and shareholders
for the dedication and support you have shown for CRE throughout
the year under review.

OEIl Kang, Eric
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited (“CRE” or the “Company”, and with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) recorded HK$206.1 million in
turnover. Overall poor wind resources in 2020 adversely affected the
performance of our wind farms in China. However, new contributions
from the fully operational Henan Songxian 74 Mega-Watt (“MW”) wind
project (“Songxian Wind Farm”) cancelled out the negative impact and
led to a 14% increase in revenue as compared to last year's HK$181.2
million. With continued effort in controlling operational costs, the gross
profit for the period increased 12% to HK$77.1 million (2019: HK$68.6
million).

Wind farms under the Group’s associate companies, affected by the
relatively poor wind resources, despatched less power as compared
to last year. However, through operational cost control, the associate
companies contributed 11% higher net profit, approximately HK$54.3
million, to the Group as compared to last year’s HK$48.9 million.

Appreciation in Renminbi during 2020 resulted in the Group recording
net exchange gain of HK$17.6 million. As a result, the net profit after
tax attributable to the equity holders of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 increased 50% to HK$86.2 million or earnings
per share of HK3.44 cents. For the same period in 2019, net profit
after tax attributable to the equity holders of the Group was HK$57.4
million or earnings per share of HK2.29 cents.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total bank borrowings was
HK$673.3 million as compared to HK$648.5 million in 2019. The
difference was mainly due to the net movement in the corporate bank
loan facilities and the repayment of principal for existing project loans.
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. - Management Discussion and Analysis
NEEBEBHWEOW

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continueqd)

The bank borrowings include project loans and corporate bank loan
facilities. Project loans were interest-bearing RMB bank loans used
to finance the Group’s wind farm projects in the People’s Republic
of China (“China”), with interest rates based on the People’s Bank of
China rates or Loan Prime Rate. The corporate bank loan facilities
were interest-bearing HKD bank loans, with interest rates based on
the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The maturity dates for the
Group’s outstanding bank borrowings were as follows: HK$121.1
million is repayable within one year, HK$333.0 million repayable within
two to five years and HK$219.2 million repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had restricted cash of HK$2.5
million. Unrestricted bank deposits and cash was HK$190.4 million
as compared to HK$307.4 million in 2019. The difference was mainly
related to the net movement in the bank borrowings and payments
for construction works.

The Group did not use any financial instruments for financial hedging
purposes during the period under review.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

The Group’s subsidiaries have charged their assets including wind
power equipment, related right-of-use assets and trade receivables,
with a carrying value of approximately RMB1,192.5 million (equivalent
to HK$1,420.9 million) as security for the bank borrowings as at 31
December 2020. Such assets, with a carrying value of approximately
RMB1,155.1 million (equivalent to HK$1,288.4 million), were charged
as at 31 December 2019.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net gearing ratio, defined as
the total borrowings plus the amount due to a shareholder, less bank
deposits and cash, divided by total equity, was 35% as compared to
31% as at 31 December 2019.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2020 (2019: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Amid the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic, total
power consumption in China increased 3% as compared to 2019,
reaching 7,511,000 Giga-Watt-hours (“GWh”) in 2020. China’s wind
and solar power generation capacity increased 34% and 23% to an
aggregate total of 282 Giga-Watt (“GW”) and 253 GW respectively.
Total wind power output was 466,500 GWh, an increase of around
15% compared to 2019, accounting for 6% of total power generation
across the country. Total solar power output was 260,500 GWh, an
increase of around 16% compared to 2019, accounting for 3% of
total power generation across the country.

Construction of the entire Songxian Wind Farm was completed during
the first half of the year. As a result, Songxian’s contribution to
revenues began to increase starting in May 2020. As at 31 December
2020, with the inclusion of our new Songxian Wind Farm, the Group
now has eight wind farms and one distributed solar project under
operation with a total gross power generating capacity of 738 MW.
Net power generating capacity has increased 10% to 427 MW.
Adhering to the general principle of making progress and optimization
in a steady way, we have continually improved the operations of our
existing wind farms, reducing costs and curtailment.

The COVID-19 pandemic had a relatively minor impact to the Group
compared to other industries. The lockdown on infected regions
lengthened the maintenance and repair lead time slightly and
therefore lowered some of the wind generators’ availability. Poor wind
conditions in the northern part of China reduced the power despatch
of the Group’s wind farms. However, with the full contribution from
Songxian project, total power despatch of our wind farms in 2020
was 1,350.1 GWh, similar to 2019’s 1,356.3 GWh.

Mudanjiang and Muling Wind Farms

Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms, located in Heilongjiang province,
have a total of 59.5 MW of wind power capacity. The wind farms
started commercial operation in the fourth quarter of 2007. The
Group holds majority stakes of 86% and 86.7% respectively. The
power dispatched in 2020 was approximately 68.7 GWh, which
was equivalent to 1,155 utilization hours, worse than 2019’s power
dispatch of 87.4 GWh (equivalent to 1,470 utilization hours).
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. - Management Discussion and Analysis
NEEENWE N

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il Wind Farms

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farms have a total of 99 MW of wind
power capacity and are wholly-owned by the Group. They are located
16 kilometres north of Wulanhua under Siziwang Qi of Western
Inner Mongolia. Commercial operation of Phase | and Il started in
January 2011 and January 2015 respectively. The wind farms were
the first two phases of a strategic 1,000 MW wind farm base for
the Group. In 2020, Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farms dispatched
power of approximately 184.1 GWh, which was equivalent to 1,859
utilization hours. Wind resources in 2020 were less than last year and
curtailment increased. In 2019, the wind farm’s power dispatch was
196.9 GWh (equivalent to 1,989 utilization hours).

Danjinghe Wind Farm

The Group has a 40% effective equity interest in the 200 MW
Danjinghe wind farm located in Hebei. The majority and controlling
shareholder is the wind power division of China Energy Conservation
and Environmental Protection Group (“CECEP”), which holds
60%. The entire wind farm commenced commercial operation in
September 2010. As this project was obtained through the national
tendering process, the wind farm enjoyed minimal curtailment. The
power dispatched in 2020 was approximately 381.8 GWh, which
was equivalent to 1,909 utilization hours, lower than 2019’s power
dispatch of 390.1 GWh (equivalent to 1,951 utilization hours).

Changma Wind Farm

Changma wind farm, located in Gansu province, is a joint venture
with CECEP. The Group has a 40% effective interest in the project
company. The 201 MW wind farm started commercial operation
in November 2010. As this project was also obtained through
the national tendering process, the wind farm enjoyed minimal
curtailment. The power dispatched in 2020 was approximately 401.7
GWh, which was equivalent to 1,999 utilization hours, lower than
2019’s power dispatch of 437.4 GWh (equivalent to 2,176 utilization
hours).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Lunaobao Wind Farm

Lunaobao wind farm is a joint venture with CECEP and is adjacent
to the Danjinghe wind farm. The Group has a 30% effective equity
interest. The wind farm capacity is 100.5 MW and started commercial
operation in February 2011. Unlike Danjinghe, Lunaobao was not
obtained through the national tendering process, hence it does
not enjoy low curtailment. The power dispatched in 2020 was
approximately 190.6 GWh, which was equivalent to 1,897 utilization
hours. Wind resources in 2020 were slightly better and curtailment
reduced when compared to last year. In 2019, the wind farm’s power
dispatch was 190.0 GWh (equivalent to 1,890 utilization hours).

Songxian Wind Farm

Songxian wind farm, located in Songxian of Luoyang city in Henan
province, has a total of 74 MW wind power capacity and is wholly-
owned by the Group. The first 36 MW wind power capacity
commenced commercial operation in February 2019, and the entire
74 MW started full operation from May 2020. The power dispatched in
2020 was approximately 123.2 GWh, which was equivalent to 1,665
utilization hours. Wind resources were similar to last year. However,
with the additional new contribution from the remaining wind power
generating capacity, the performance more than doubled 2019’s
power dispatch of 54.5 GWh (equivalent to 1,514 utilization hours).

Nanxun Distributed Solar Project

Nanxun distributed solar project is located in Nanxun district of
Huzhou city in Zhejiang province, and is the Group’s first wholly-
owned distributed rooftop solar project. The 4 Mega-Watt-peak
(“MWp”) distributed solar project was installed over 60,000 square
meters of rooftops on Nanxun International Building Materials City,
a commercial complex owned by CRE’s parent company, HKC
(Holdings) Limited. Power generated is sold to Nanxun International
Building Materials City and any excess power is sold to the local grid
company. The project commenced commercial operation in March
2018. The power dispatched in 2020 was approximately 4.5 GWh,
which was equivalent to 1,127 utilization hours. The performance was
better than 2019’s power dispatch of 4.2 GWh (equivalent to 1,046
utilization hours).
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. - Management Discussion and Analysis
NEEENWR DN

BUSINESS MODEL & RISK MANAGEMENT

CRE’s main business is acting as an investor-operator in China’s
renewable energy sector, in which we secure, develop, construct
and operate power stations in order to provide reliable electricity to
customers. As one of the main external investors in China’s renewable
energy sector, the Group is well positioned to contribute to the
government’s plan for a low-carbon economy.

Our Group strategy “Grow ® Advance ® Sustain” guides our operations
and development going forward. All investment opportunities are
thoroughly evaluated by the Executive Committee and the Board
based on a combination of project economic, environmental and
social benefits. We plan to continue to develop renewable energy
projects and look for growth investment opportunities. In CRE, every
kilo-Watt-hour (“kWh”) energy output counts. We therefore strive to
innovate and advance in all aspects of our business and operations to
continuously enhance our profitability with an ultimate goal to create
sustainable value and to increase return for shareholders.

Risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the
Group; risk is inherent in our business and the market in which it
operates. Rather than being a standalone process, risk management
is integrated into our daily business process, from project level
day-to-day operation to corporate level strategy development and
investment decisions.

Through a bottom-up approach, we identify and review existing and
emerging risks semi-annually. Identified risks are then monitored
and discussed at the Group level. The risk management process is
overseen by the Executive Committee and the Board as an element
of our strong corporate governance. Within CRE, all risks factors
are classified under 6 different categories, (i) Policy and Regulations,
(i) Legal and Compliance, (iiij Safety, Health and Environmental, (iv)
Financial, (v) Operational and (vi) Reputational; and are evaluated
through assessing their consequences and likelihood. With a
continuous and proactive approach to risk management, the Group
is committed to identifying material risks and then to managing these
so that they can be understood, minimised, mitigated or avoided.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRDN

OUTLOOK

The renewable energy business is one that rewards expertise,
patience, commitment and innovation. With our Songxian Wind
Farm commencing full operation and generating revenues starting
from May 2020, the Group’s net capacity has now increased 10%
to 427 MW. The Group will adhere to its principle of focusing on
profitability instead of blind pursuit of expansion. We will continue to
work diligently, develop our businesses efficiently and steadily, and
will consider strategic alliances, with an aim to create sustainable,
increasing returns for shareholders as we work towards a smarter
and cleaner tomorrow.

With the election of a new President in the United States (“U.S.”),
the world is now unified on promoting renewable energy. The U.S.
announced it will re-join the Paris Agreement. On 12 December 2020,
President Xi announced that China will voluntarily increase its
contribution to the Paris Agreement and that by 2030, he expects
non-fossil fuel energy to account for 25% of the country’s energy
consumption. On 29 December 2020, the State Grid announced
its goal for carbon emissions to reach a peak by 2030 and for the
country to be carbon neutral by 2060 (“30e60 Carbon Targets”).
The State Grid will actively promote the use of renewable energy
and strengthen cross regional renewable energy transmission. It is
expected that by 2030, carbon emission will drop by 65% when
compared to 2005 and the aggregate total of wind power capacity
and solar power capacity will increase to 1,200 GW. These new
targets are expected to have a positive impact on the Group’s wind
farms as well as on future business developments.
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NEEENWE N

OUTLOOK (continued)

However, the renewable energy industry continues to face challenges
such as the removal of tariff subsidies for new wind power projects
and delays in the settlement of tariff subsidies, resulting in high
accounts receivables. In view of these delays, in September 2020,
the National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”), the
National Energy Administration (“NEA”) and the Ministry of Finance
(“MoF”) released a document titled, “Recommendations Relating to
the Promotion of the Healthy Development of Non-Hydro Renewable
Energy.” This document specifies a reasonable amount of utilization
hours for wind farms. Category one wind farms should have an
operational period of 48,000 hours, category two of 44,000 hours,
category three of 40,000 hours, and category four of 36,000 hours.
The purpose is to limit the amount of tariff subsidy and to ensure
reasonable returns for existing projects. Wind farms with an excess
of power generation above the stated reasonable utilization hours will
no longer receive tariff subsidies, and instead will be compensated
through the market trade of green certificates. Therefore, at the
beginning of this year, on 5 January 2021, the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment also announced the “Management Policy for Carbon
Emission Rights Transactions (Trial Implementation)”. This will be
effective starting from 1 February 2021 and it is hoped will set the
blueprint for carbon emissions trading.

Moreover, in November 2020, the NEA proposed the “Policy for
the Tariff Settlement Between Power Generation Companies and
Grid Companies”, which clarifies the requirements for State Grid
companies concerning the settlement of basic tariffs and subsidies
with renewable energy companies. At the same time, the MoF
released the “Notice Concerning the Acceleration of Approval
Procedures for Subsidized Renewable Energy Projects Checklist”.
This further clarifies the simplified procedures for the application and
approval of tariff subsidies. By simplifying the procedures, the Chinese
government expects that the settlement of tariff subsidies can be
accelerated, thereby improving the cashflow position of renewable
energy companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBENWRDN

OUTLOOK (continued)

Facing the challenges and opportunities, the Group continues to
proactively respond. We continue to adhere to our principle of
investing only in top quality renewable energy projects, focusing only
on those projects with high potential return and in regions not subject
to curtailment. For our existing wind farms, every kWh energy output
counts, as outlined in our strategy. We have decided to participate in
some of the pilot electricity market trading schemes. This is expected
to reduce curtailment, to help increase power dispatch, and to
increase overall profitability of these projects.

Employees

As at the end of December 2020, the Group’s operations in Hong
Kong and Mainland China employed a total of 97 employees. Our
core requirement is to ensure that we attract, retain and deploy
employees with the capabilities needed to secure, develop, construct
and operate our assets. In 2020, we have strengthened our resources
and capabilities through a combination of external recruitment
and internal transfers of staff. These have enabled us to enhance
performance through common standards and processes in safety,
project management and asset management. The Group has also
appointed technical consultants on contract terms when deemed
necessary for the development of new projects and for operation of
existing projects. All employees are remunerated according to the
nature of their jobs, their individual performances, the Group’s overall
performance, and the prevailing marketing conditions.

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector
since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental
protection and support for the low carbon development of China. CRE
strives to continuously improve and evolve in the renewable energy
sector to adapt to the changing expectations of our stakeholders
while balancing the needs of our shareholders, environment and the
communities we operate in.
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. - Management Discussion and Analysis
NEEENWE N

OUTLOOK (continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues (continued)
The Group has 738 MW of operating wind farms and a distributed
solar project in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu, Inner Mongolia, Henan
and Zhejiang provinces. Most of our projects are located in remote
northern regions. They greatly benefit the economic development of
the local areas through investment, by reducing local pollution and
carbon emissions, and by contributing to the local community through
the hiring of local staff who are given fair market-based remuneration
packages. In 2020, CRE’s operating assets complied with all local
environmental related regulatory requirements. With a total electricity
generation of 1,354.6 GWh, we have reduced approximately 440,000
tons of coal consumption and 1,048,000 tons of carbon emission.

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their
expectations. As one of the main foreign investors in China’s
renewable energy industry, we continue to maintain close contacts
with our stakeholders, including but not limited to the Government
(e.g. the NDRC and NEA at both national and provincial level), local
authorities (e.g. environmental and land bureau) and State Grid
Corporation through various meetings to facilitate their understanding
of our business, operations and development direction.

The Group will continue to support the goal to decrease carbon
emissions by investing in various renewable energy projects. At the
same time, we will explore other means to further contribute to the
communities we operate in as the Group grows larger and more
profitable.
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREERE

MR. OElI KANG, ERIC

(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 50, has been appointed as Executive
Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
10 April 2008. He also holds several directorships in other members
of the Group and the chairman of the Executive Committee of the
Company. Mr. OEl was appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company on 20
March 2019. He was educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics (with a minor in Electrical Engineering), and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration. Earlier in his career, he
worked with Peregrine Securities Ltd. and PCCW Limited in Hong
Kong, the LG Group in Seoul and McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles,
USA. Mr. OEl is currently an Executive Director, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “HKC Group”), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and the controlling shareholder of the Company.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. OEl is also
the director and the shareholder of Claudio Holdings Limited, the
controlling shareholder of HKC.

MR. LEUNG WING SUM, SAMUEL

(Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, aged 57, has been appointed as
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since
1 December 2008. He joined the Group in April 2008 as Qualified
Accountant of the Company. He also holds several directorships
in other members of the Group and is a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Mr. LEUNG has been appointed as
Executive Director of HKC since 1 September 2015. He is currently
the Chief Financial Officer of HKC and also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. LEUNG is a certified practising accountant
of CPA Australia. Mr. LEUNG obtained a Master’s Degree in Business
from RMIT University of Australia. He has over 20 years’ experience in
auditing and finance management with an international audit firm and
other major conglomerates in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. LEUNG was a director of internal control and risk management
of HKC.
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. - Directors and Senior Management
NEEREREERE

MR. WONG JAKE LEONG, SAMMY

(Executive Director)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy, aged 60, has been appointed as
Executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2014. He has
been instrumental in raising funds for the Group. Mr. WONG is the
Investor Relations Director of the Group, and is currently serving as
a member of the Executive Committee of the Company. He is also a
Director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Since 2007, Mr. WONG
has joined HKC, and is an Executive Director of HKC. He also serves
as a Director of certain subsidiaries of the HKC Group and a member
of the Executive Committee of HKC.

Mr. WONG received a Bachelor’s degree in the geophysical sciences
from the University of Chicago and an MBA from the Yale School
of Management. Before Yale, he worked as a petroleum geologist
at Sohio Petroleum. After Yale, Mr. WONG became an investment
banker at Kidder, Peabody in New York, where he was involved in
project finance. He moved to Hong Kong with Bear Stearns, and was
involved in a variety of corporate finance activities, including some
of the first H share IPOs out of China. Mr. WONG then worked in
equity research at Societe Generale where he was in charge of the
research efforts in Shanghai; and later as vice President and head of
China Research at Credit Suisse in Hong Kong. Before joining HKC,
Mr. WONG served as a Chief Financial Officer for DVN (Holdings)
Limited (now known as “Frontier Services Group Limited”), where he
was involved in fund raising and introducing strategic investors to the
company.

MR. LEE SHIU YEE, DANIEL

(Executive Director)

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel, aged 55, has been appointed as Executive
Director and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company
since 1 June 2020. He is the Project Director of Property Department
of HKC Group since December 2010 and has been appointed as
Executive Director of HKC since January 2014. Mr. LEE also serves
as a director of certain subsidiaries of the HKC Group and a member
of the Executive Committee of HKC. He has over twenty years of
project management experience in property developments in Hong
Kong and China. Before joining the HKC Group, Mr. LEE was the
General Manager (Property Projects) of the Property Department of
CITIC Pacific Limited.

Mr. LEE holds a Professional Diploma in Quantity Surveying (Hong
Kong Polytechnic), a Bachelor of Laws (LLB) degree with honours
(City University, Hong Kong) and an MSc degree in Construction
Management (Reading University, UK). He is a Registered Professional
Surveyor, a member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEE

MR. YU HON TO, DAVID

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 72, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. YU is a fellow member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management.
He was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm.

Mr. YU is currently an independent non-executive director of the
following companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
namely China Resources Gas Group Limited (stock code: 1193),
Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 184),
Media Chinese International Limited (which is also listed in Malaysig;
Hong Kong stock code: 685, Malaysia stock code: 5090), MS Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1451), One Media Group Limited (stock
code: 426) and Playmates Holdings Limited (stock code: 635). Mr.
YU is also an independent non-executive director of New Century
Asset Management Limited, the manager of New Century Real Estate
Investment Trust (stock code: 1275), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yu has been appointed as a non-executive director of Haier Smart
Home Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: B00690) and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6690), with effect from 5 March 2021.

Mr. YU was an independent non-executive director of Haier
Electronics Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1169) (@ company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) within the last three years.
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. - Directors and Senior Management
NEEREREERE

MR. TIAN YUCHUAN

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan, aged 56, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 23 April 2013. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. TIAN holds a
Bachelor of Arts Degree from Beijing Foreign Studies University. He
also obtained an executive education program certificate from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Management in 2009 and completed a
program in leadership and public policy at University of Oxford in
2012. Mr. TIAN has over 35 years of experience in multinational
business, corporate management, international equity investment and
corporate finance. Mr. TIAN was the President of SITE Centers Capital
Management LLC. Previously, Mr. TIAN was the executive director and
chief executive officer of CITIC Dameng Holdings Limited (stock code:
1091), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He also held senior positions in several subsidiaries of CITIC Group
between 1986 and 2004. Mr. TIAN was employed as the Senior Vice
President, Corporate Strategy and Development and served as a
director of some subsidiaries of HKC between April 2006 to March
2008.

MR. ZHANG SONGY]I

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 65, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2016. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He obtained a Juris Doctor
degree from Yale University in 1985. Mr. ZHANG currently serves in
senior management and advisory capacities in several companies,
including acting as the chairman of Mandra Capital and a director of
SINA Corporation, a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market.
He was also a director of Athenex, Inc., a company listed on the
NASDAQ Stock Market. Mr. ZHANG is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Longyuan Power Group Corporation
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He was a non-executive director of Jimu Group Limited,
the shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. ZHANG was previously an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company from April 2008 to April 2013.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEEAEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”, and
with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good
corporate governance principles and practices and its board of
directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) recognises that it is essential
to safeguard the interests of its shareholders (the “Shareholders”),
customers and employees and uphold accountability, transparency
and responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December 2020, save for the
deviations with considered reasons as explained in the following
relevant paragraphs.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Company has at all time during the year ended 31 December
2020 maintained a balanced board with strong independent element.
The Board currently comprises seven Directors with four Executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors. Each
Director possesses expertise and experience and provides checks
and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole. In addition, the Company had maintained
three Independent Non-executive Directors which formed at least
one-third of the full Board. Biographical details of the Directors and
their relationships, where applicable, are set out in pages 17 to 20
of this Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors with at least one Independent Non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors was
assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of them
are independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the current organisation
structure of the Company, the functions of CEO are performed by
the chairman of the Company (“Chairman”), Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with
support from the other Executive Directors. The Board considers
that this structure will not impair the balance of power and authority
between the Board and the management of the Company, and has
been effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily and
facilitating the Company’s operation and business development. The
Board will review the structure from time to time to ensure it continues
to meet the principle and will consider segregation of the roles of
chairman and CEO if and when appropriate.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs and
formulating business strategies with a view to maximising its financial
performance and Shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities and powers to
the Board committees to assist it in efficiently implementing those
functions specified in written terms of reference.

Decisions relating to the long-term objectives and viability of the
Company, and any acquisitions or disposal of transactions and
investments of any kind with value exceeding the authority of
the Executive Committee set out in its terms of reference or the
threshold for discloseable transactions for the Company as defined
in the Listing Rules from time to time are reserved for the Board;
whereas decisions on matters set out in the terms of reference of
the Executive Committee and those not specifically reserved for the
Board are delegated to the Executive Committee and management,
as applicable.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s
expense and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently. The management provides monthly
management accounts of the Group to the Directors to apprise them
of the Group’s latest performance and financial position.

22 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2020

%%%ﬂg

EERITHRAR

RIFEE TR T TARNEA21G - £F
RITBAS (TTREH DNABETIAED -
Al TRALEE - REAQRBA AR
BiE - TR ZBEERARREE(EED
EMAAERT YHEMATERRERMHS
E-BEFERR URBHISHBESS
EARREEBZRNLBEYS  B—F
Bz im@ﬁﬁﬁ W R EARRE 2 EE
REBER - EFEM TR XN B AR
REBFTERY  XEZERBEERFEEY
FBRTBEHZ AE -

E=EME
EXeRBAREZRERER IVE
REREBAREEHLGIEEXBR '?m
TR BRRER \Hﬁfﬁ@ﬂl&;‘%
BERMKID

ExgmMAET E@%@ NEERETES
NBHAENEREMBELENTRA2EHA
H‘BﬂZHu °

ARARRIREEBEREER N2 RE &
EAWERHERS  RMEMERNIEE @
ﬁfﬁ@ﬁ_ﬂjﬁtﬁi/\Eﬂiﬁgﬁalﬁﬁ%ﬂgﬂ
K EMRATHAETARAETERRS
PRE *E%E%%A&%ﬁ'ﬁﬁ@ﬁ’\iﬂﬁié!%
BRGEMHEENRE RSB ERER
RHEFEREZEE  ABHRUTEZEER
BEEEGRERBAME)ERE -

EERREERCER  USKBUEEER -
RMETREZBE - BRHEARBEALE -
HENAIBLERAARASREERE - B8
BEernEERIAEEGAEEERR  UE
BEENEAEESIPRR|RVBMRR -
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

Directors are requested to disclose to the Company at the time of
his appointment and in a timely manner for any change, the number
and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and
other significant commitments. Such changes will be updated and/or
published in the annual and interim reports as appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors
proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting are first
considered by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will assess the candidate or incumbent on criteria such as integrity,
experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out
the duties and responsibilities. Having due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board, the Nomination Committee will then be
put recommendations to the Board for decision. Details of the role
and function as well as a summary of the work performed by the
Nomination Committee are set out under the heading of “Nomination
Committee” below.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), the nearest to but not less than one-third
of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation but are eligible for
re-election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting provided
that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. New appointments to the Board are also subject
to re-election by Shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting (in the case of an addition to the Board) or at the next
following general meeting (in the case of filing a casual vacancy).

All Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed with no
specific term, but are subject to the aforesaid rotation requirement
in the Articles of Association, accomplishing the same purpose as
being appointed for a specific term pursuant to Code Provision A.4.1
of the CG Code. The rotating Directors who are subject to retirement
and re-election at 2021 annual general meeting are set out on page
53 of this Annual Report.
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NEERBRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange ideas
on the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up various Board
Committees, among others, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Executive
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee are available on both
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee were held and the attendance of the individual Directors
at these meetings is set out in the table below:

BEExg®H)
EESREEZESE;
BEETHETZE UHARREBER

BmER EFGERUZEEFEZES  H
TEEERZES REZBe FMZEER
ERMITERES  NERAEEREERKLZ
FEHRE BEEXZES REZBELFM
ZEGZBEEE R RAR R R P A8k
EH -

FR EFg EHXZZBEE REZEEN
FMEEELRITTIEHR  SEENZSE
SHRIHEBRERTR:

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings eligible to attend

HESEYE AEKEEEEHA
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors EEpgg Exg EBRZEg ¥MzEe REZEE
Executive Directors HBITES
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Ml A 4/4  2/2 MNoweMi) 1/1 1/1
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel REBREE 44 2/2 Mk NA TERA  NATEA
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy BEEREE 4/4 272 Wote ki) N/A i A N/A i A
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel TERRE 3/3 171 Note Hii) N/A 3 A N/A A3 A

(Appointed on 1 June 2020) (RZF=FFNA—H
EZHF)

Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHTES
Mr. YU Hon To, David MEEEAE 4/4 4/4 11 1/1
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan BEII%E 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Songyi REHEE 4/4 4/4 11 11
Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees. fisk: MOTEEAXBBEAIOLEEBREH -
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued)

Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The
agenda and accompanying board papers are dispatched to the
Directors or committee members at least three days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers
and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors or
committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised
of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the Chairman and CEO prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board and the
committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable
time after the date of the meeting. All Directors have access to the
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that the board
procedures are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

The Chairman and CEO acknowledged the significance of promoting
a culture of openness and debate among the Board members. To
facilitate the effective contribution of Independent Non-executive
Directors, the Chairman and CEO held a meeting with Independent
Non-executive Directors without the other Executive Directors present
in June 2020.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee, chaired
by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members
namely Mr. YU Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG
Songyi, who are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl
Kang, Eric, who is the Chairman and CEO.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
and structure for Directors and senior management, and reviewing
their remuneration packages. In arriving at its recommendations, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration factors such as
the remuneration paid by comparable companies, skill, knowledge,
time commitment and responsibilities of Directors. The Remuneration
Committee has the responsibility, powers and discretion to determine,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
Executive Directors and senior management. The Remuneration
Committee held one meeting during the year, and the attendance
details of each member are set out on page 24 of this Annual Report.

During the year under review, the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee included () to review the remuneration
policy and structure of Directors including those retired and
re-elected at the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company; (ii)
approve the year-end bonus and salary increment of the Executive
Directors; and (iii) to consider the voluntary reduction of Executive
Directors’ Remuneration. No Director was involved in deciding his
own remuneration. Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration for the year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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TEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely
Mr. YU Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi,
who are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric,
who is the Chairman and CEO.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least annually, identifying
suitable candidates for directorship, assessing the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors, and making recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy. The Nomination Committee held
one meeting during the year, and the attendance details of each
member are set out on page 24 of this Annual Report.

During the year under review, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee includes the following:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

° reviewing the structure of board committees;

° assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and sufficient number of independent directors to
maintain a balanced board;

° assessing the qualification and experience of new candidates
for directorship and making recommendation to the Board on

matters relating to the appointment of Director;

° making recommendation to the Board
re-appointment of the retiring Directors; and

relating to the

° reviewing the progress report from the management in relation
to the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company had provided the Nomination Committee sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Where necessary, the Nomination
Committee could seek independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 8 July 2013. Below is the summary of the Board Diversity
Policy:

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as
an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. All
appointments of the members of the Board are made on merit, in the
context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective. In designing the Board composition, the Company
is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects and does not
discriminate on the grounds, including but not limited to, ethnicity,
gender, age, cultural and religious background.

The Nomination Committee discussed and agreed the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and recommended
them to the Board for adoption. During the year, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the existing composition of the Board and
received and accepted the progress report from the management
in relation to identified business skills and experience required and
their ranking and the action plan for recruiting new Board member.
[t also monitored the review of the Company’s recruitment process
to reinforce its commitment to the principle of equal opportunity.

Nomination Policy
The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on
14 June 2019. Below is the summary of the Nomination Policy:

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making selection
and recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors,
and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Policy set out
the procedures, process and criteria for the Nomination Committee
in making any such recommendations.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued) REZEES

(

Nomination Policy (continued) REBEKE)
1. Principle and Guidelines 1. KRAIRES
When making recommendations regarding the appointment of REZESERZAENHEIESS

any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall consider a variety of factors including without limitation the
following in assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

Vi.

Vii.

The Board Diversity Policy.
Reputation for integrity.

Accomplishment and experience that are relevant to the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Company’s affairs.

The ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success.

Compliance with the criteria of independence as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Main Board Listing
Rules for the appointment of an Independent Non-
executive Director.

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be
made in accordance with the Articles of Association and other
applicable rules and regulations.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2. Nomination Procedures

Procedures for Appointment of New Director

If the Board recognizes the need to appoint a new
Director, the following procedures should be adopted:

21

2.2
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The Nomination Committee identifies candidates in
accordance with the selection criteria set out in the
Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee evaluates the
candidates and recommends to the Board the
appointment of the appropriate candidate for
directorship.

The Board decides the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The key terms and conditions of the appointment
should be approved by the Remuneration
Committee.

Procedures for Re-election of Director at General
Meeting

The Nomination Committee reviews the overall
contribution to the Company of the retiring Director.

The Nomination Committee also reviews and
determines whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the selection criteria set out in the Nomination
Policy.

The Nomination Committee share recommend to
the Board which shall then make recommendation
to the Shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures (continued)
2.3 Procedures for Nomination by Shareholders
i. The Procedure for Election of Directors for
Shareholders’ nomination of any proposed
candidate for election as a Director is available on
the Company’s website.

ii. The Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate based on the selection criteria set out
in the Nomination Policy and to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee shall
recommend to the Board which shall then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Company Secretary shall ensure all disclosure obligations
under the Listing Rules regarding the appointment or re-election
of Directors are duly complied.

Review of the Policy

The Board will from time to time review the Nomination
Policy and monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practice. The Board reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Nomination Policy.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference which have been updated from time to time to align with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee,
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises three
members namely Mr. YU Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and
Mr. ZHANG Songyi, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to, inter
alia, review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management procedures, as well as oversee
the adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting resources.
While recognised corporate governance is the collective responsibility
of all Directors, the Board has delegated the corporate governance
functions to the members of Audit Committee who are in an objective
and independent position to oversee the corporate governance
compliance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
together with senior management and external auditor and two
private meetings with the external auditor without the management’s
presence. The attendance details of each member are set out on
page 24 of this Annual Report. The major work performed by the
Audit Committee during the year included reviewing interim and
annual financial statements, internal audit reports on the internal
control and risk management matters, the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance as well as reviewing and
recommending re-appointment of external auditor.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing guideline for employees
to raise concerns, in confidence, with the designated executive who
is accountable to the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, unlawful activities, or activities violating the Group’s
Code of Conduct and Business Ethics or otherwise amounting to
serious improper conduct and to ensure protection from possible
retaliation against any of our employees who has reported concerns
in good faith.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Executive Committee with the key
initiatives to manage the Group’s business activities, and oversee
the operating performance and financial position of the Group and
all strategic business units. The Executive Committee comprises all
Executive Directors and chaired by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee met regularly
to review the performance of various business units of the Group,
coordinate overall resources, made financial and operation decisions
delegated by the Board, review and develop investment strategy and
policies of the Company and make relevant recommendations to the
Board.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors and other
executives of the Company, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from
time to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group.
Executive Directors and executives meet regularly to review the
performance of the businesses of various business units of the Group
as a whole, coordinate overall resources and make financial and
operation decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their
powers of management including circumstances where management
should report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on
a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries, the Company has obtained confirmation from all Directors
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished inside information in relation to the securities of the
Group, on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 which
give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows. In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors have adopted generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that
are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements
on a going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 68.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the fees in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by the auditor
amounted to approximately HK$1.0 milion and HK$0.2 million
respectively. The non-audit services consist of interim results review.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

For the year ended 31 December 2020, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The training programmes included seminars
and courses, reviewed the updated laws, rules and regulations
and materials on topics relevant to the director’s duties and
responsibilities. A summary of training received by Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2020 according to the records provided
by the Directors is as follows:
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Training on corporate governance, regulatory

development and other relevant topics

Name of Directors EEnE TtEER EERERHEMEBREIZEZEZI
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric = M 55 A& 4
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel RERTE v
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy EEREAE v
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel FEREE v

(Appointed on 1 June 2020) (R=ZF=ZFF~A

—HEZ ()

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFEHITES
Mr. YU Hon To, David BEELAE 4
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan HEEE v
Mr. ZHANG Songyi SRMEE A v
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING (continued)

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and the business
environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. In
addition, the Directors are regularly encouraged to enroll in a wide
range of professional development courses and seminars regarding
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements to enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness, while
management is charged with the responsibility to design, implement
and monitor the risk management and internal control systems to
manage risks and compliance.

Risk Management Model
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Financial Control B 7§ 2542
Management internal
Control : e Internal Audit

éc})ggto? Measures Risk Management [&\fzx & 12 it
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Compliance A ES

As the first line of defense, operational management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk and
control procedures on day-to-day operation. Management of Head
Office establishes various risk management and compliance functions
to provide direction on the importance of risk management and
monitor the first line of defense controls. The Internal Audit and Risk
Management (“IARM”) Department reviews and provides independent
assurance on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL b EERAEEEC
(continued)
Internal Control Framework A 3P BE 1 AR R
The Group has in place an integrated internal control framework that 72X % B & 3 # COSO (Committee of
is consistent with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations ~ Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
of the Treadway Commission) framework as illustrated below: Commission)fE2E — B 2 43 & N BPES R 28 4 -
HFRMT:

Control Environment

EERIE

° Set the right tone of the Group influencing control consciousness and risk awareness of the staff.
BMUAEBEEHNELRER URCEENEZTERRARBL -

° Factors include integrity, ethical values, competence, delegation of authority and responsibility.
WMEFANRT  EBEEE BEeh BEREAGESZSAEZE -

° Foundation for all other components of internal control.

ERMAEHM AR AR &R -

Risk Assessment

ALK 57 1

° Identification, evaluation and analysis of the key risks underlying the achievement of the Group’s objectives,
including the risks relating to the changing regulatory and operating environment; conducted regularly, forming
the basis for determining control activities.
EHBER AR MAERAEEEREENTIZAR(BEFHEELRKEERFEZLOEAR) - WAL
ERTIE L BB A AR -

Control Activities

IR

° Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out and necessary actions are taken
to address the risks that may hinder the achievement of the Group’s objectives.
FITRERERF BREEBEECENMABITURRRVETHEES G EASEENEE2RR -

° Control activities include authorisations, approvals, verifications, performance reviews, segregation of duties,
asset security, access control, documentation and records.

ERRHEREE Fi ZE ARk BESN  BERE  FHESH  XMHEFENMCES -

Information and Communication

ERRER

° Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right person in a timely manner.
B AR ERRAEEATRHEEEEN -

° Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties are established.
BUYASEBEEZAHPFICENAREINRALTZ BRERE -

° Channels of communication exist for people to report suspected malpractices or improprieties relating to the Group.

RERSIMEAKREETHARNERTHATETARLEBRE -

Monitoring

° Combination of ongoing and separate evaluations of control system’s performance.
58 R AE R T L B R R E R -

° Management and supervisory activities.
EERERTE-

° Internal audit activities.
NEFE T ITIE -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Control Environment

The actions of management and its demonstrated commitment to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices within
the Group are transparent to all. The Group strives to conduct all
business affairs based on good business ethics and accountability.
We have in place a formal Code of Conduct & Business Ethics that is
communicated to all staff members. We aim to build risk awareness
and control responsibility into our culture and regard them as the
foundation of our risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
monitor the Group’s ability to achieve its business objectives; and
can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

We maintain an effective internal audit function, the IARM Department,
whose main features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(i) fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every
operation of the Group;

(i)  adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff;

(iv)  risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant risks
or where significant changes have been made.

Risk Management

Management has an ongoing process to identify and evaluate the
significant risks facing the Group and to prioritise resources to
manage those that arise. Mitigation strategies and plans with respect
to each key risk identified are developed and implemented with
regular review and update, which include establishing or enhancing
internal controls.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units regularly
review and analyse the key risks associated with achieving the
objectives of their particular departments, activities and businesses
to provide reasonable assurance that internal controls are both
embedded and effective within their areas of accountability.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Control Processes

The Board maintains sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems through the following:

(i) The Board reviews the Group’s strategic plans and objectives
on an annual basis.

(i) An organisational structure with defined lines of responsibility
and delegation of authority is devised.

(i)  Systems and procedures are in place to identify and evaluate
risks on an ongoing basis. Senior executives review the risk
assessment process and monitor the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

(iv)  Appropriate policies and key control activities are maintained
with regular review on their effectiveness.

(v)  Financial performance is analysed against budget with variances
being accounted for and appropriate actions taken to rectify
deficiencies.

(vij  Senior executives ensure compliance with relevant laws,
regulations, standards and ordinances, including Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, the Listing Rules and the
Companies Ordinance, under their responsibility.

(vii)  The IARM Department reports directly to the Audit Committee
and the CEO, and carries out independent reviews on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems in accordance with its annual audit
plan approved by the Audit Committee. Key audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations
are regularly reported to the Board through the Audit
Committee. Head of the IARM Department also serves as
the contact person under the Whistleblowing Guideline of the
Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Review of Internal Control Effectiveness

The Executive Directors of the Company conduct reviews of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, and submit to the Audit Committee a certification of
compliance for effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting, and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations bi-annually. The scope of this review covers the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

The Audit Committee regularly reviews the audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations,
and opinion of the IARM Department on the performance of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. External
auditor also reports on any control issues identified in the course of
their audit work.

Taking the above into consideration, the Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems at least once each year and reports to the Board on such
reviews.

The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed and
considered the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
effective and adequate for the year ended 31 December 2020. No
significant areas of concern that might affect the operational, financial,
and compliance controls and risk management function of the Group
were identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, the applicable Listing Rules and other statutory
regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of
inside information, announcements and financial disclosures
and authorises their publication as required.

(i) has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

(i)  has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the
securities transactions of those employees who, because of
their positions, are likely to have access to confidential or inside
information.

(iv)  identifies and authorises members of the Group’s senior
management to act as the Company’s spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and CEO on Board
or committee matters. He is an employee of HKC (Holdings) Limited
(“HKC”), the holding company of the Company, who serves both the
Company and HKC. All Directors have direct access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary for the ongoing discharge
of their duties and responsibilities. For the financial year ended 31
December 2020, the Company Secretary took more than 15 hours of
relevant professional training organised by the Stock Exchange and
various professional bodies.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE COMPANY
The Company has published its updated and consolidated version
of Memorandum and Articles of Association at the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. During the year, there was no
alteration on the constitutional documents of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 14
June 2019. Below is the summary of the Dividend Policy:

The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and guidelines
that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration of
dividends and to allow Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the future growth of the
Group.

The Board shall consider the following factors before proposing and
declaring dividends:

i. the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

ii. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

iii. the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;

iv. the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

V. general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

vi.  any other factors that the Board deem relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the laws of Cayman lIslands, the
Articles of Association and any other applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy. There can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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GENERAL MEETING BRERERAE

The last annual general meeting of the Company was held on 26 ARQR F—fERRBEFAGEN T _TFHA
May 2020 (the “2020 AGM’). The Chairman and CEO chaired the Z—+/~BR{T([ZZE=-= iﬂx%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ)
2020 AGM. The external auditor attended the 2020 AGM to answer FFEHRITRAHEFT_S_ZTERFRFKX
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparaton and &xXfE o IMNEZEMMEFE S -_ZTFERE
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor EFE A& UREXHBZE - REARE 2

independence. RERAND » QTR RAZEBENE 2R
fi e
The attendance record of the individual Directors at the 2020 AGM KEEN _Z-_ZFERFAFAS2HFL
is set out in the table below: BEHIWT
2020 AGM
Name of Directors EEgE Attended
HE-Z-2F
BRREFAE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric = Ml 5 A4 v
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel RERESE 4
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy FHER LA v
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel $$/|“‘§E$ N/A
(Appointed on 1 June 2020) (RZFZFFNH—HEZ(F) 38
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUkHITES
Mr. YU Hon To, David BEE KA v
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan HEIINEE v
Mr. ZHANG Songyi SRR K& x
Note: Independent Non-executive Directors are required to attend general meetings ~ Fiif: BIFHITEFARBELETRIA T TAEX
pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code. All Independent Non-executive FABTHREFERRERRE - ARFEBE2EB L
Directors were encouraged to attend the general meeting to inter-face with FNTEFHRRRERG UFEERREGH -
Shareholders but one of them was not in a position to attend the 2020 AGM ME—BBEIFRTEETRBINEBRIELTH
due to overseas commitment and prearranged business engagements. ZEBBAMAERE _S_ZFRFTBEFKX

=
@ o

42 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2020



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and put forward
proposals at general meetings

Shareholders can put forward their proposals at an
extraordinary general meeting. Procedures for the Shareholders
to convene an extraordinary general meeting is provided for
under Article 58 of the Articles of Association.

Under Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any member(s)
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition (“Requisitionists”).
The written request must state the resolution, preferably
accompanied by a statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution for the Company’s reference and consideration,
signed by the all Requisitionists concerned.

The written request must be deposited at the head office of the
Company at 9/F,, Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrars”). Upon the Branch Share Registrars’ confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the Company will
convene an extraordinary general meeting within two months
after the deposit of such requisition, and will serve sufficient
notice in accordance with the statutory and regulatory
requirements to all members of the Company.

Procedures for election of Directors

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available and accessible on the
Company’s website at www.cre987.com.
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NEEERERE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
Shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our Shareholders
understand our business better. Copies of the annual reports and
interim reports of the Company are distributed to the Shareholders
in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements and also
to interested parties recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The
publications of the Company, including financial reports, circulars
and announcements, are also available on the Company’s website at
www.cre987.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the Shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual Directors, and
the poll procedures are clearly explained. The Chairman and CEO,
other members of the Board, the Chairmen of the relevant Board
Committees and the external auditor of the Company attended the
annual general meeting to interface with, and answer questions from
the Shareholders.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the following
ways:

Post: 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail: info@cre987.com

Fax: (852) 2722 1323
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI HERERKE

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company” or
“CRE”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to
present its annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) with disclosure reference made to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
as contained in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG Report covers the financial
year ended 31 December 2020.

This ESG Report describes the Group’s environmental, social and
governance management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives.
[t explains how the Group complies with the “comply or explain”
provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. This ESG Report covers the
Group’s governance on the Environmental and Social aspect. The
corporate governance aspect is addressed in more details in the
Corporate Governance Report.

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector
since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental
protection and support for the low carbon development of China.
CRE strives to continuously improve and evolve in the renewable
energy sector in order to adapt to the changing expectations of our
stakeholders while balancing the needs of our shareholders, the
environment and the communities we operate in.

ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions and Use of Resources

The Group has 738 Mega-Watt of operating wind farms and
a distributed solar project in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu, Inner
Mongolia, Henan and Zhejiang provinces. Most of our projects are
located in remote northern regions. They greatly benefit the economic
development of the local area through investment, by reducing local
pollution and carbon emissions, and by contributing to the local
community through the hiring of local staff who are given fair market-
based remuneration packages. In 2020, CRE’s operating assets
complied with all local environmental related regulatory requirements.
With a total electricity generation of 1,354.6 Giga-Watt-hours (“GWh”)
(2019: 1,360.5 GWh), we have reduced approximately 440,000 tons
(2019: 442,000 tons) of coal consumption and 1,048,000 tons (2019:
1,058,000 tons) of carbon emission.
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- Environmental, Social and Governance Report
VRS REREARE

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Emissions and Use of Resources (continued)

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their
expectations. As one of the main foreign investors in China’s
renewable energy industry, we continue to maintain close contacts
with our stakeholders, including but not limited to the Government
(e.g. the Development and Reform Commission and the Energy
Administration at both national and provincial level), local authorities
(e.g. environmental and land bureau) and the State Grid Corporation
through various meetings to facilitate their understanding of our
business, operations and development direction.

The Group will continue to support the goal to decrease carbon
emissions by investing in various renewable energy projects. At the
same time, we will explore other means to further contribute to the
communities we operate in as the Group grows larger and more
profitable.

The Group does not generate any hazardous waste and water
consumption is minimal.

The Group applies the following energy saving measures in the
workplace:

—  Lights and electrical appliances in living area or workplace must
be turned off when not in use.

—  Staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting room and the computer at the workstation when it is
not in use.

—  The room temperature is maintained at 25°C to save energy.

— Video and telephone conferencing instead of face-to-face
meetings are arranged where possible.

—  The Group encourages employees to reduce the use of paper
by assessing the necessity of printing, by encouraging duplex
printing where appropriate, and by reusing the blank side of
single-side printed paper.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI -HERERBE

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Emissions and Use of Resources (continued)

Under the KPIs A1.1 to Al1.6 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the data on emissions, greenhouse
gas emissions, total hazardous waste, total non-hazardous waste and
description of measures to mitigate emissions and reduce hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.

Also, under the KPIs A2.1 to A2.5 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the data on the energy consumption
and water consumption and the description of energy use efficiency
initiatives, water efficiency initiatives and total packaging material
used.

Further, under the KPI A3.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Company
is required to disclose the description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.

As the principal activity of the Company is renewable energy business
(including wind power and distributed solar energy generation
business), the Company viewed that the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6, KPIs A2.1
to A2.5 and KPI A3.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide are not material
to the principal activities of the Company and have not disclosed in
this report.

SOCIAL

The Group regards people as its most important asset. Over the
years, the Group has put considerable effort to provide a safe and
healthy staff environment for its employees. The Group offers a
comprehensive and competitive package of benefits to attract and
retain talent.

Employment

The Group has adopted an “Employee Handbook” which sets out the
practices and policies of human resources. The Employee Handbook
is in compliance with the Labor law of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), Labour Contract Law, the Hong Kong employment laws
and other relevant laws and regulations. The Employee Handbook
covers areas such as compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, diversity, and other policies
for the benefit of the employees of the Company.
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NEECHEREARS

SOCIAL (continueaq)

Employment (continued)

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. Regardless of
race, color, descent, ethnic background, ethnic origin, gender, age,
nationality, disability, veteran status, citizenship and religion, all job
applicants and current employees enjoy equal opportunities and fair
treatment. The Group values the input and contributions made by
employees of all backgrounds.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has complied
with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation to employment.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe, effective and congenial
work environment. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines
are implemented to ensure the working environment is healthy and
safe. Different safety-related initiatives and measures have been
rolled out in the Company’s operations. Risk assessments are also
conducted to identify risks in special working environments, while
detailed safety instructions have been formulated and communicated
to workers, including both employees and contractors as part of their
safety training sessions and pre-work risk assessment. Safety officers
are appointed to coordinate and communicate safety-related matters
to all workers on site.

The Company offers its employees comprehensive health care
coverage and also provides medical insurance coverage.

Development and Training

The Group encourages employees to attend training and
development programs to strengthen their job skills, to enhance
their professionalism, to improve their operational efficiency and
productivity, and to develop their potential and other talents. In
addition, the Group encourages and assists employees to further
develop their technical or professional standards knowledge by
sponsoring them for professional membership. All applications for
membership fee reimbursement will be considered depending on
their degree of importance to the employee’s job and their relevance
to the operational requirements of the employee’s department.
Continuous professional development training for directors and senior
management are required and the Group encourages them to attend
training programs organized by various professional bodies.
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BRI -HERERBE

SOCIAL (continuea)

Labour Standards

The Group’s employment practices has strictly complied with the
Labor Contract law of PRC, the Hong Kong employment laws and
other relevant laws and regulations to avoid child or forced labour
and other potential irregularities. During recruitment, all job applicants
are required to complete a job application form and declare that all
personal data provided (including age and personal particulars) are
true and correct. The Group undertakes a detailed job reference
check, if needed.

Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to ensuring that its supply chain
management is socially responsible. The Group has adopted
procurement procedures and practices to identify eligible bidders
through a detailed assessment of prospective bidders. Factors
considered include company size, qualifications, financial strength,
previous track record and whether various safety, environmental
and quality related internal systems and qualifications (e.g. 1SO)
are in place. Qualified parties are then allowed to participate in the
procurement process. Suppliers are chosen based on the supplier’s
ability to guarantee satisfactory product quantity and quality, price
and ability to deliver services on time. The Group closely monitors
supplier’s performance and provides feedback where necessary.

Product Responsibility

Maintaining high quality and standards are crucial to the Group’s
sustainable development. Reliability, safety, and quality of our energy
generation are crucial to the Group’s success. Therefore, maintaining
high availability and operating our wind and solar assets efficiently to
maximize our energy generation are the Group’s major priorities.

During the construction of wind and distributed solar project, the
main equipment procured such as wind turbines and solar panels are
required to have completed all necessary testing and qualifications
certification in accordance with national standards. At the same time,
the Group has undertaken production control and quality assurance
examination of the procured equipment to make sure of its product
quality so as to protect the interests of shareholders and customers.
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SOCIAL (continueaq)

Product Responsibility (continued)

The Group puts considerable effort in dealing with the core issues
that make us competitive as a renewable energy operator, including
safety, health, environmental and quality standards, and operation
& maintenance capability. The Group continuously reviews its
construction to ensure it is consistent with the original project design.
With regard to the quality of construction and health and safety
standards, the Group strictly adheres to national and local standards
and the respective codes for construction inspection and acceptance.

Anti-Corruption

The Group has issued the “Code of Conduct & Business Ethics” (the
“Code”) to all the directors and employees of the Group. The Code
sets out the principles to guide the directors and employees of the
Group to conduct business affairs in accordance with the highest
business ethical standards. The Group strives to preserve honesty,
fairness and impartiality. In accordance with the “Whistle-blowing
Guideline”, all employees can report for investigation any suspected
bribery, extortion, fraudulent and money laundering cases. Once
confirmed, it will be reported to the police or other regulatory bodies
for prosecution. The Group has also issued a “Policy on Advantages
Handling” with regard to guidelines for soliciting, accepting or offering
advantages and gifts by the directors and employees. The Policy
also provides guidelines for the avoidance of any potential conflicts
of interest or breaches of any local laws, rules or regulations.

The Group strictly complied with the aforesaid principle, relevant laws,
rules and regulations throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to participating in the community where we
operate with an aim to improve the community’s wellbeing. Through
the hiring of locals using market compatible remuneration packages,
the Group is able to share its operational returns with the local
community and to contribute back to the society.

The Group will explore other means to contribute more to the
environment and society once the Group achieves higher profitability.
To create shared values with the community and stakeholders, the
Company will continue to consider ESG factors in selecting future
investment projects.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRES

The directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”) have pleasure in
presenting to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) their
report together with the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activity
of the Group is renewable energy business. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and associated companies are set out in pages
148 to 150 of the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2020
by geographical and business segments is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
pages 69 to 70 of this Annual Report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.4 cents (2019: HKO0.4 cents) per ordinary share of the Company
(the “Share(s)”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “2020
Final Dividend”) to Shareholders. Subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming 2021 annual general meeting (the
“2021 AGM”) and subject to further announcement(s) in respect to
the book closure date, record date and payment date, the proposed
2020 Final Dividend is expected to be distributed to Shareholders on
or before 30 June 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Risk

As a long term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the
Group is subject to Chinese government supportive policies, climate,
economy and other execution risks.
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. - Report of the Directors

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s assets are denominated in Renminbi. The
Group conducts a majority of its business operations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The major portion of revenue,
expenses and debts are denominated in Renminbi. Fluctuations in
the exchange rates of Renminbi would have limited impact on the
Group’s operations.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations during
the year.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group has a good relationship with its customers which are the
grid companies. Through regular communication channels, the Group
ensures the electricity dispatched can be invoiced. For the suppliers,
they are mainly the maintenance providers, they provide services to
our wind farms to ensure the safety systems and the wind farms are
operating reliably.

Please also refer to pages 9 to 11 of this Annual Report for business
review on the Group’s operation and wind farms.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) and there is no
restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in Note 22 and Note 31 respectively to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEeREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2020,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands (as revised), amounted to HK$1,053.8 million (2019:
HK$1,014.1 million).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 151 to 152 of this
Annual Report.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made no charitable and other donations
(2019: Nil).

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel (Appointed on 1 June 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

At the 2021 AGM, Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel and Mr. TIAN
Yuchuan will retire from office by rotation in accordance with
Article 85 of the Articles of Association and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election. Further, Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel who was
newly appointed by the Board on 1 June 2020 will also retire from
office in accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association and
will offer himself for re-election as Director.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 313 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and the Company considers all of them to be
independent.
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. - Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
adopted by the Company were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares:
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Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 1,833,696,937" 73.168%
= M5 A NG|

Joint 41,661,4392 1.662%
$[F]

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy Joint 2,051,401° 0.082%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continuea)

(i)

(ii)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares: (i)

(continued)
Notes:

1. Since as at 31 December 2020, HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”) was held
as to (i) approximately 67.829 by Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”) (via
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”) and
Genesis Capital Group Limited (“Genesis”), a company wholly-owned
by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric; and (ii) approximately 3.379% by Great Nation
International Limited (“Great Nation”) (via its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Genesis Ventures Limited (“Genesis Ventures”)), a company owned as to
50% by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs.
OEl Valonia Lau. As thus, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is deemed to be interested
in the same parcel of Shares in which HKC is interested.

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest
in 1,403,352,050 Shares held by HKC; (i) an interest in 154,278,990
Shares held by Creator; and (i) an interest in 276,065,897 Shares held
by Genesis.

2. The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in

41,661,439 Shares jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau.

3. The joint interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy represents an interest
in 2,051,401 Shares jointly held with his wife, Mrs. WONG Hongmei Guo.

4, The personal interest of Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel represents an interest
in 8,550 Shares.

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares (ii)
of associated corporation of the Company:

EERNESZER#E)

ROREBRROZER: (&)

o :

1.

RZT_TF+_A=+—H RS
BREZGER)ARAR(E SRR J)EE()
Claudio Holdings Limited ([Claudiol) # &
#4167.829% (BB E 2 B B AR &IZES
BERAR(AIEDREAEERFRAA
([#£ &1])) - M Claudio /8 = [l 5¢ 4 2 & ¥
B RINEBEEERARDTELDHELD
3.379% GERHEZEMB AR FER B XK
BRERAR ([ZEAIAIZE]D) - ﬁ'ﬂzpiI?EEEﬂJ
S EEBE0% I # + #R T 50% 1 &% Al B 1%
ZETEELTHES - Eit - ERIEEW
BAENBSERBEEERZ ZFA R H
BEAEER -

FHRAEEZ ARESEBRE)EEBERS
B 21,403,352,050 % % 17 # 5 : (ii) B Bl 3E
75 .2154,278,990% J& 4 25 ¢ M (i) R &=
Bl45 % 2 276,065,897 1% % {5 = o

EMltEZHRAERERRRABEZEZT
%J?ﬁi#ﬂ%ﬁZM%MSQHXHX%%

>\

B

HEERAEZARESEAKRERKEZET
ARG T HRAFAH 22,051,401 % i 15 1

FE G 5 2 B\ HE 55 5 708,550 I 0
B o

RAD T 8 EE R 5 R A8 E KRG
ZER:

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of the

and underlying existing issued

shares of the  share capital of

Name of Nature of associated the associated
associated corporation Name of Directors interest corporation corporation
HE LB 2 HEEEE
ROKERE BEESRTRE
BB LIEEE HEEHR ERME R EE BHNEA
HKC (Holdings) Limited Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 363,924,938' 71.208%
EERRER)BRAR =MIE4E NC]
Joint 11,154,9872 2.183%
H*A
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy Personal 5,145,000° 1.007%
HERLAE & A
Joint 1,841,269 0.360%
H*A
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel Personal 7,200° 0.001%
FEREE & A

PRI B LR

BREARAT | —2-=g5y 55



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

of associated corporation of the Company: (continued)
Notes:

1. The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents () an interest in
203,445,407 shares of HKC held by Creator; (i) an interest in 143,212,531
shares of HKC held by Genesis; and (i) an interest in 17,267,000 shares
of HKC held by Genesis Ventures.

2. The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
11,154,987 shares of HKC jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau.

3. The personal interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy represents an
interest in 5,145,000 shares of HKC.

4. The joint interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy represents an
interest in 1,841,269 shares of HKC jointly held with his wife, Mrs. WONG
Hongmei Guo.

5. The personal interest of Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel represents an interest
in 7,200 shares of HKC.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent company
or its other associated corporations a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or its specified undertakings or other associated
corporation.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ Interests in
Securities” above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that enabled
the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of
18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective associate(s) was interested in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 23 “Bank borrowings” and Note 28
“Related party transactions” to the consolidated financial statements,
the transactions with HKC and its subsidiaries and in which Mr. OEl
Kang, Eric was interested, no contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)
Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

(continued)
Notes:

1. Mrs. OEIl Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares
in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is taken to be interested (as detailed in “Directors’
Interests in Securities” section above).

2. The joint interest of Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau represents an interest in 41,661,439
Shares jointly held with Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

3. Claudio is beneficially interested in approximately 67.829% of the issued share
capital of HKC (via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis) and
thus, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which HKC is
interested. In addition, as Creator and Genesis are wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Claudio, and thus, Claudio is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
Shares in which Creator and Genesis are interested.

4. The beneficial interest of HKC represents an interest in 1,403,352,050 Shares.
5. The beneficial interest of Genesis represents an interest in 276,065,897 Shares.
6. The beneficial interest of Creator represents an interest in 154,278,990 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2020, the Company had
not been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief
executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares which are required to record in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related Party
Transactions” in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.
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Report of the Directors
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the year
attributable to its major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 17%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 43%

Sales

During the vyear, the Group had five customers only and the
percentages of the Group’s sales attributable to the major customers
are as follows:

The largest customer 44%
The remaining customers 56%

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s
customers and suppliers noted above.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 44 of this Annual
Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance with
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code. A Code
for Securities Dealings by Employees has also been adopted in this
regard.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in
Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the issued Shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director and other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his/
her office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that the indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any of said persons.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors with written terms of reference
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, and reports
to the Board.

The audit committee has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2021 AGM.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the
information of the Directors since the date of the 2020 Interim Report
is set out below:

Mr. YU Hon To, David
(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU was appointed as a non-executive director of Haier Smart
Home Co., Ltd., a company listed on both the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600690) and the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6690), with effect from 5 March 2021.

Mr. YU resigned as an independent non-executive director of Haier
Electronics Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1169), the shares of which
have been withdrawn from listing on the Stock Exchange, with effect
from 24 December 2020.

On behalf of the Board
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
OEIl Kang, Eric

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY
INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 69 to 150 which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R - E S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets (mainly related to land lease) related to power
plants in the Mainland China, which have impairment indicators.
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~. Independent Auditor’s Report
B YRR E

Key Audit Matter
HREGBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNAEEBERETSE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
(mainly related to land lease) related to power plants
in the Mainland China, which have impairment
indicators
FEAENEEREFANEERETFRNYE  HER
e EREEUARFERAREEEZEHEIHHEHERH)
EATRER M

Refer to note 2.8 and 4a to the consolidated financial
statements

EREEE S KN E2.8Kk4a

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s non-current
assets principally comprised property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
(mainly related to land lease) related to power plants in
the Mainland China. Management considered impairment
indicators existed for certain power plants and performed
impairment assessments on these power plants
accordingly.
R-ZE-_TEF+_A=1+—HH  EBEEENFTHEE
FTERETFBRIAREMNZESHAENOYE  HBREE -
B EERTRAREE(TZHIWHAELH) BEE
ETREHEFEREDRR  WEHZEEERET
WAE R ©

Management assessed whether there was any
impairment of the carrying values of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets (mainly related to land lease) by calculating the
recoverable amount under value in use method. The
impairment assessment requires management to exercise
significant management judgement and estimates,
among other things, estimating correspondingly tariff
rates, future sales volume and discount rate.
EREERBFEATREAESEFENRKSEE ST HY
¥ BEREE BREENRGCAREE(ETZESRL
WHEFRNEREESRFAEEMME - MEFNHE
KERBELERNERABAMGE - ERBEMGFHEE
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (mainly related to land
lease) related to relevant power plants in the Mainland
China included:
MEBEBHPEAREMNZEREENDE  KBERK
B EBRUEEARERREE(FZELA L MBEERH)E
TREN G2 EESHREFEE:

° Assessed the impairment assessment methodology
used by the management to estimate value in use;
NEEETHEFREAERKANTETEENT
BT

o Assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
relevant business and industry and with the
involvement of our valuations specialists;
EREMEEBAEBMITENTREZMNMGEE
ERNP2HE RERBR 2B ETIME:

° Reconciled input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considered the
reasonableness of these budgets;
HEASEETFEZE(WERENTEE
AL WHHTEENE RN

7)) #ETT

o Evaluated the management’s sensitivity analysis to
assess the potential impact of reasonable possible
downside changes in the key assumptions.
REBEBEENSRMEDINETTME - AT A
RERPEEARNTINECIBELE -

We found the assumptions made by management in
relation to the value in use assessment to be supportable
based on available evidence.
BIFHEFZE - BFER -
FIEERBRREER -

EEEHEREENETE

The significant inputs have been appropriately disclosed
in note 4a.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R - E S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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~. Independent Auditor’s Report
B YRR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R - E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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.. Independent Auditor’s Report
CEVREMERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Pong Fei Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

RETHEZERR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE_Z-TF+-_A=1+—HIFE

2020 2019
—BCEF —T-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 7 FHET FAT
Revenue W &= 5 206,122 181,223
Cost of sales R 7 (128,994) (112,662)
Gross profit E F 77,128 68,561
Other income HAth I A 5 29,436 4,588
Other losses Hith &5 18 6 (4,199) (4,400)
Administrative expenses THER 7 (22,812) (26,750)
Operating profit reERR 79,553 41,999
Finance income IR T ON 8 2,695 2,625
Finance costs EE=p N 8 (40,200) (27,501)
Finance costs — net b & B AR -5 58 8 (37,505)  (24,876)
Share of results of associates FEAGEE & ARl & 18 54,279 48,871
Profit before income tax F 18 B Al i F 96,327 65,994
Income tax expense FriS# S i 11 (10,261) (8,145)
Profit for the year rXEgmN 86,066 57,849
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HftZEWK A~ (EE)
ltems that may be reclassified AREREFIESE
subsequently to profit or loss Bz 2IAE
Currency translation differences KRR REMMEB AR 2
of the Company and its eI E £
subsidiaries 60,844 (18,394)
Currency translation differences of B4 A7) 7 [E {0 E =58
associates 56,976 (17,113)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AEEHEMEEW A~
for the year, net of tax (1) o= 117,820 (35,507)
Total comprehensive income for AEEZHEW AL
the year 203,886 22,342
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LUTREGRR(BA) :
Equity holders of the Company RARIERFAA 86,152 57,376
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR 7 (86) 473
86,066 57,849

HEEEERREERAT | 22 EER
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~. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
NRAZEHBERERE

“- For the, ,year ended 31 December 2020

~¢ai_§_?¢+ A=+—BILEE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & FHET FAT
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTEEZEBA (EE)
attributable to: R
Equity holders of the Company RAFIERFEEA 204,001 21,850
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR R 2 (115) 492
203,886 22,342
Earnings per share attributable to ZAEEXRQATEZZTEA
equity holders of the Company EhEEREF
for the year (expressed in HK (BB ELEALSIR)
cents per share)
Basic and diluted earnings per BEREXRBERA
share 12 3.44 2.29
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI &R
As at 31 December 2020
RZEZTF+-A=1+—H

2020 2019
—E-EHF —ET-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Vs - B RERE 14 1,285,205 1,019,189
Construction in progress EETRE 15 - 222,709
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 16,075 9,713
Intangible assets EEEE 17 3,499 3,835
Prepayments and other receivables TEAT 30 K E At B U R 19 51,185 59,059
Interests in associates i AN 18 909,595 848,291
Total non-current assets I RBEELE . 2,265559 2,162,796
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 12,901 6,622
Trade and other receivables JFE W BR 3R K
H b fE YK 19 432,972 315,479
Restricted cash 2 BRH IR & 2,502 2,342
Cash and cash equivalents RekBaEEY 20 190,405 307,415
Total current assets rBEEAE 638,780 631,858
Total assets EEHAE 2,904,339 2,794,654
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable to ZAATEREIZFHE A
equity holders of the Company EhERNRFE
Share capital [N 21 25,062 25,062
Reserves 1 22 1,889,257 1,705,305
Equity attributable to equity holders AT EZFEFH A
of the Company LR 1,914,319 1,730,367
Non-controlling interests IR R (920) (805)
Total equity B 1,913,399 1,729,562
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NREHBRRE

NN
= As at 3.] December 2020
- R EFt=ASTA

- Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2020 2019
—E_SHF —E—NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5t FExT FAET
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank borrowings SRITER 23 552,182 522,095
Lease liabilities HeEaE 654 231
Deferred income tax liabilities REMSHAE 25 33,989 30,397
Total non-current liabilities *rBaER®E 00000000 586,825 552,723
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FERBRR R EA
&S 5k 26 84,165 187,278
Current portion of bank borrowings RITIERENE 5 23 121,070 126,407
Amount due to a shareholder B — R IR 1A 24 196,874 197,733
Lease liabilities HeEa’ 849 444
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS R aE 1,157 507
Total current liabilities hEBAEAE 40415 512,369
Total liabilities EEHE 990940 1,065,092
Total equity and liabilities EaRaERE 2,904,339 2,794,654

OEIl Kang, Eric
=
Director

EF

72 cChina Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2020

LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel

Director

EF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEDBBXR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-2F+-A=+AILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARRERFEAEM
Non-
Share Share Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve  earnings Total interests equity
A RHEE ERifFEE RKRERF ‘st FEREZ ERER
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TER TERT TET TER TERT TERT TET
Balance at 1 January 2019 R-B-h&
—A—Bz#&t 25062 925856  (25202) 802,850 1,728,566 (1,297) 1,727,269
Profit for the year FEERR = = = 57,376 57,376 473 57,849
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Htt2EUW A/ (BE) :
Currency translation differences of the AREIREWEBAF 2
Company and its subsidiaries ERBREZE = = (18,413) = (18,413) 19 (18,394)
Currency translation differences of BENBCERBREEE
associates - - (17,113) - (17,113) - (17,113)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EW A/ (F8) A% = - (35526) 57,376 21,850 492 22,342
Transactions with owners HERAETZRS
Dividend paid BfRE = = - (20,049) (20,049 - (20,049
Balance at 31 December 2019 R=B-h&
tZA=t—-Rz#&H 25,062 925,856 (60,728) 840,77 1,730,367 (805) 1,729,562
Balance at 1 January 2020 R-B-ZF
—B—-Rz#&t 25,062 925856  (60,728) 840,177 1,730,367 (805) 1,729,562
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/(HE) - - - 86,152 86,152 (86) 86,066
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Htt2EU A/ (&E) :
Currency translation differences of the ARE R EWBAF 2
Company and its subsidiaries EXhEzE - - 60,873 - 60,873 (29) 60,844
Currency translation differences of BENBCERBREEE
associates - - 56,976 - 56,976 - 56,976
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EWA /(F8) A% - - 117,849 86,152 204,001 (115) 203,886
Transactions with owners HERAETZRS
Dividend paid BfRE - - - (20,049)  (20,049) - (20,049
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-B-ZF
tZRA=+-Hz&&H 25,062 925,856 57,121 906,280 1,914,319 (920) 1,913,399
hEBEERREERAR | 22558 73



a&z@’

. - Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

‘ éraﬁ' Iﬁ%uwi;ﬁ%

For the Iyear ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FAT
Cash flows from operating activities K& ZFBHZRERE
Cash generated from operations KEBIRE 29(a) 98,794 94,184
Mainland China taxation paid EENENCTPN e (4,174) (4,627)
Net cash generated from operating LETFEMBIR S FE
activities 94,620 89,557
Cash flows from investing activities REEFEBZHERE
Interest received B U F B 2,812 2,823
Purchase of property, plant and WA HBEREE
equipment (20,483) (11,507)
Purchase of construction in progress B AfEE T 72 (147,564) (108,450)
Purchase of intangible assets BAEBFEE (164) 9
Proceeds from disposal of property, tH¢¢%¥ R
plant and equipment RIS IR 7 7,263
Dividend received from associates BEEE QAR E 32,837 22,002
Decrease in short-term bank deposits %2 Hi R 17177 ZUm 4 - 43,656
Net cash used in investing activities KEEEFAR S8 (132,555) (44,222)
Cash flows from financing activities BEFH2HERE
Drawdown of bank borrowings RARITER 100,000 255,295
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBITER (113,820) (91,504)
Interest paid for bank borrowings BN Tﬂa A E (46,800) (39,308)
Dividend paid B AT AR (20,049) (20,049)
Repayment of lease liabilities S E \E\Fém)\
(including interest) (BEFE) (1,103) (119)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES (FTA),/
financing activities SR & 58 (81,772) 104,315
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
cash equivalents W), R E (119,707) 149,650
Cash and cash equivalents at 750 H BzR& Kk
1 January ReEEY 307,415 161,585
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [E X & &) v 5 £ 2,697 (3,820)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=-A=+—HZzH%
31 December REAEZEY 190,405 307,415
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHmRHE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company” or
“CRE”) is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. The address of the registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in renewable energy business. The Group
has operations mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The ultimate holding company is Claudio Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ thousand or
HK$’000), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements were approved for issue by the board of directors
of the Company (the “Board”) on 18 March 2021.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of CRE have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEAMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Amendments to standards adopted by the

(@)

76 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2020

Group
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Revised Conceptual
Framework for Financial
Reporting

Definition of Material

Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark

and HKFRS 7

The adoption of these amendments to standards
does not have any significant impact on the Group’s

Reform

consolidated financial information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 wWEEEE)

(b) New standard and amendments to standards (b)) R=-Z-ZTF-—H—HEHK
have been issued but are not effective for the ZHMBEECEMERK
financial year beginning on 1 January 2020 and ERETBERBEEMNZH
have not been early adopted Z A& EZAMEET
The following new standard and amendments to WTRERMEVEREZZT
standards have been published and are mandatory “EFENA—B KR
for the accounting periods beginning on or after 1 2 5 HA M s 1% HA A 08
June 2020 or later periods, but the Group has not A ASEILEIERR
early adopted them: M ER RERNE T :

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on

or after

RT 5B 2% B

mzETHBER

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020

BEMBREEDNEI65R 2EF] 2098 R mSHEEC2HEES —E-FFRA—H

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before 1 January 2022

Intended Use

BEE G ERE165 2 EF] Mz WLk RE - EREREAIZAERE —T-—_%—HF—H

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract 1 January 2022

BB GFHEREITHE ZEET BEEH -BIEHZKAR —ZT-=F—H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022

BEEMBHRELENEIR BT BMESERZRM —T-—F—HF—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022

EEMBRELEN2FESRE BAWBEREEN T N\FE_ZT_ZTFHEH 2 _%—H—H
L EE U

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

BB R ELENFEITHR REREH —E-=%—HA—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2023
Non-current

BEE G ERIE15 2 1EF] FRARPAERBEES —Z_=%—H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be announced

HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture
B B T R S R FE1058 ) REERHBMENRNELE AR CHAzEELE SN

BB G LR F28E 2 ERT FEE

REEEERRAARAR | -2 77



- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NRE M RRM

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

New standard and amendments to standards
have been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on 1 January 2020 and
have not been early adopted (continued)

The Group has not early adopted the new standard
and amendments to standards, which have been
issued but are not effective for the financial
year beginning on 1 January 2020. The Group
has already commenced an assessment on the
impact of these new standard and amendments
to standards, and expected that the adoption of
those new standard and amendments to standards
will not have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial information in the current or
future reporting periods.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December.

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. |dentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the profit or loss.

2.2
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

| aannuzme

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(@

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. It is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(©)

(d)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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NEAMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHEHERBZE#®R

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued) 22 HEREE)
(d) Associates (continued) (d) HBEQTE)

The Group’s share of its associates’ post- REBEEEKEEEE AT
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the ZaEAkEERERERA
profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition R mEGWEREMmE
movements in other comprehensive income is Az A RE M2
recognised in other comprehensive income with a HRARER - RERAE
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount thEE o MELFE - B
of the investment. When the Group’s share of SEEG—REBERRZE
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest BERNBBERZE &
in the associate, including any other unsecured RAEZ = (BREEMEAM
receivables, the Group does not recognise further EEBEWT)  AIAEE
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive TEmRE—TERE - RIE
obligations or made payments on behalf of the NS E o A /NI PESE
associate. EENEEREIRKZ

o AR K o

The Group determines at each reporting date AEBTEEAREDHE
whether there is any objective evidence that the ErRA R BB EE A
investment in the associate is impaired. If this BARIRECDRE - igE
is the case, the Group calculates the amount BRE AEBFERES
of impairment as the difference between the I =Y NG
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying CREAERMENESE I
value and recognises the amount adjacent to “share ERmRPIEGEE QT
of results of associates” in the income statement. XEIZHR -

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group AEEEEBERNRZHR
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the SHRBRUE  BAEE
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses REE AR 2 Em A 2 REE
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides iH o RIERZGHABEET
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. FrEEEERFMBE - Bh
Accounting policies of associates have been RNER BB E 8 o B
changed where necessary to ensure consistency BRRZEHENERE
with the policies adopted by the Group. RESE R - DARE(R B RS E PR

Rz @t BR—2 -

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in BERBERNAMEAZ
associates are recognised in profit or loss. BElakBEEREZE
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by BEREBZMERERA
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount BENEEET  WAEBEmK
and are recognised within other income or other and A Y LAt A S B 2 — A%
general expenses in profit or loss. BERPER-
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REMB WK

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Group’s
most senior executive management that makes strategic
decisions.

2.4

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

()

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
The Group’s functional currency is Renminbi and the
Group’s presentation currency is Hong Kong dollars
to facilitate analysis of the financial information of
the Group, which is listed in Hong Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the reporting date;
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEAMBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(©)

(d)

Group companies (continued)

(i)  income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Cumulative
exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued) 24 HNEREE)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial d HESHNEBRIILE
disposal (continued) (%)
In the case of a partial disposal that does not result MEBELS HEL REBK
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that SEXEXAEEHNEBZ
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share M@ AR 2 s - BlIRL
of accumulated currency translation differences Pl BEGTTERMEEZEE
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and Mo TIEERER - BT
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other EERTANER - BIABEHE
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s fhE o & (BIER A& E
ownership interest in associates that do not result REE AR 2 B -
in the Group losing significant influence) the MAEERAEELEE
proportionate share of the accumulated currency BN imE - Akt Bl
translation difference is reclassified to profit or loss. HRELREZEEN

DHEEEREK -

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 25 ¥ HBERFZE
Property, plant and equipment, comprising leasehold W BERREREHEYE
improvements, plant and machinery, motor vehicles and ®iE BERESE  ABEURK
furniture, fixtures and equipment are stated at historical i~ KRB REE - RAE KR
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 2 ERRFREEEIER -
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure BERABIEEZAKEABEIER
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. BEmMBAsRAE -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is W - R REEAERER
calculated using the straight-line method, to write off their BINE - AR RAFE =
cost less the residual values over their estimated useful FEE 2 F &R0 A F H R HoR
lives or remaining useful lives for those second-hand HEA - MR A B
assets and the estimated useful lives are as follows: 2 CNE
Electricity utility plants ~ Shorter of the remaining EHEK ERTS & 2 A 5k
operation period or 20 years —+%F
(UABREERE)
Other plant and 5 years Hih#as k. 1EF
machinery B
Leasehold Shorter of the remaining lease HEWME HTHEFHK
improvements period or 5 years =& AF
(UABREERE)
Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years Rfh KB ZERF
equipment B
Motor vehicles 3-5 years RE = B8 Farke
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount
of the asset or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged in the profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
1o its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other gains/losses, net in the profit
or loss.

Construction in progress

Costs directly attributable to the construction of property,
plant and equipment including borrowing costs during the
construction period are capitalised as the costs of the
assets, which are classified as construction in progress.
On completion, the construction in progress is transferred
to property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided on
construction in progress until such items as the relevant
assets are completed and available for intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets

(@) Concession right
Concession right acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The concession right has a finite
useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over its
concession right period of shorter of the remaining
operation period or 20 years.

(b) Computer software

Computer software separately acquired is shown
at historical cost. Computer software acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
of computer software over its estimated useful live
of 2-5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

2.7

2.8

BEEE

(@) 455
REBKEHBEFESZEE
FERRIEER 2 AT AR
ReFHEZFERFHE
R IRRANE R R
TS BR o B FRET I
ARG TNEERHI =T F
(AREEABE) LLEFER

= o
Ean

(b) EREEM
BB 2 BT IRE S
RATIRR - REBE GBI
TESZERZMTRKEES
B2 AT ERER - BRI
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Bz A ZE A EAE A
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FETRMEEZRE
EEEMHABRES BRI E
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEAMBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets

2.9

(@

(b)

(c)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.

The Group subsequently measures all financial
assets at amortised cost. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or
loss as other income when the Group’s rights to
receive payments is established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets (continued) 29 REREMEMEE (&)
(d) Impairment (d HE&E
The Group applies the simplified approach on REBERARBUBERELE
assessing the expected credit losses associated BIZE9SR AT R(L 0% -
with trade receivables as permitted by HKFRS A LR ABETE RS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be FiEX - ZZEAETERY]
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, IR TR ET 2 W AR B
see Note 19 for further details. EFERNTEREREL

5 M RE19 o

2.10 Financial guarantee policy 210 B BERBE

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require HMBERSHNZIBEITARARRE
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the EEBEBARERBEFETAER
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor BRI EEBE - AREL
fails to make payments when due, in accordance with BEAXMEERBENENEE
the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees KHER - ZFMBERTIRE
are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies BB A RSB AR R T ERTT
on behalf of subsidiaries or associates to secure loans, TRMEREMERBUEREE
overdrafts and other banking facilities. FBIREMBRITEE -
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial MBERVSRERREE 2B
statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was REERTBERERPER - 9125
given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s RE AEBRZEBEERTH
liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the AfE RYVBSEREEANE
higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees R HENEREBATER
recognised, and the best estimate of the amount required B REMBTIRSETE ° &
to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined EEFTIRBEUZRZERLB
based on experience of similar transactions and history of BB R & W AT 12 2 /9 H B
past losses, supplemented by management’s judgement. METE - MR EBERAKAKE
The fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line BAERERABARER - BREE
basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the REEHEMEN  RIBEmRME
liability relating to guarantees is reported in the profit or REMEERX -

loss within other operating expenses.

2.11 Inventories 211 #&
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net GEERRABEAERFE IR
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first- EREFNR - KAALER L AE
out (FIFO) method. Net realisable value is the estimated FoA#EFEAEHEERB
seling price in the ordinary course of business, less BRZHESEEBRER &
applicable variable selling expenses. HEBR -
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

212

213

214

215

2.16

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. They are generally due for settlement within
30 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 19 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1 for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 216 EMRELERSH(E)

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis EHMEHRAXARRGMER
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the A R B DR A K A FEERTR
reporting date in the countries where the Company’s WAZBERESRESHHE B MK
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable BEERMIRBEGGE - B2
income. Management periodically evaluates positions EBEHMERYBFRECHB
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which AR mARIER - WEERE
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It JUT AR TR HA A B A5 M S P 2 A
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of SRR E B o

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability BREMGBHRHEEERABBEZH
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax EHSEVBRRATEREEZ
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts M ERER  LBEEIELR®
in the consolidated financial statements. However, R AM - WELEHIBEEE A
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from TREREEMESLE T
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax R BREMSHMARBERS (T
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of BRECESHFHEERBEY
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business TEERAMERIRTRZES
combination that at the time of the transaction affects FAIRERERE  BTEAR-
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred RIEEBEHNRZF PR ER
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) BEXBEMELERLEHRER
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the MRXSERTEFZESTEREER
reporting date and are expected to apply when the related FERBEFISERE - AT KE
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred LERMBHAR - IRLEMEHIZ®R
income tax liability is settled. SHHEAIE B M EREM - I

BN AREEREHREEZR
SELEMEHABREERERZ
BER(FEP)EE

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent IEIE P15 T & 2 R 2R A Al g AR
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available RERTENMSBERERS
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. LA 35 IRy FE 3R, ©

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences BEIEFTIS T Ty 3L Y /B A7) M B &
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, RAREEECEREZEmE
except for deferred tax liability where the timing of the o EAREER AR ER
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the ZELORME BEREEALAE
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference 5 2R AN R AT Be 8 [B] 2 3 AE R IR
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. BERIBRIN o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

217

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESBREBES
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Borrowing costs 218 fER A&
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable AEEFBREEEREEHMNTE
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying BHREE TR E A F Ak H &K
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a RRZAEREENE  #R%4E
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended EN—MEBEGBRKA 5T A
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until REEBEZRA HEEZZHTE
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their ERFEAHEREARL -

intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment EREERBIEEEREES T
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on A 2 BB 1% & PR ER 2 B WA
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs BEEEBERENME 2 BT
eligible for capitalisation. kg o
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in Fia H M fE sk A AN A H A B RS
which they are incurred. S 8K o
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any RERETMNEEREEEENE
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time AR - REERETHKEZE#R
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its Rz BEE AR o HME K
intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed. KT AT ©
2.19 Employee benefits 219 EEEF
(@) Employee leave entitlements @ EEEEZRH
Employee entitlements to annual leave are EEERZZFRIINEER
recognised when they accrue to employees. A BEZEBRER - AAAKg
provision is made for the estimated liability for TAEEHEHREBH 2R
annual leave as a result of services rendered by BMEEZFBRZETEE
employees up to the reporting date. TEH B -
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity EEEZRBREREBRNIE
leave are not recognised until the time of leave. BMEBRT SRR -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in a mandatory provident
fund scheme (“MPF”) and employee pension
schemes established by municipal government in
the PRC for the eligible employees in Hong Kong
and the PRC respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the
MPF comply with the related statutory requirements.
The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF are expensed as incurred
and are not reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave MPF prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available. The asset of MPF is held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered
funds.

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension
schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in
compliance with the requirements of respective
municipal governments.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS
37 and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESBREBES
POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Provisions 2.20 & &

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present EAEBRERERAE CEHMEAE
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it WMEMERNEERE WRE
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to AR ERLERNENEE - B
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount BRI EMETEECER  Fe
can be made. In respect of the potential obligations to R EXEESNEER
dismantle the wind farms at the end of their useful lives, FHRENEBERBET A&
the Group would assess the obligations continuously E A ERRENRITNE
based on the latest changes in the laws and regulations BEFHETRREIERIZE
and make provision when the recognition criteria are met. B EE -
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the EEZEBEUEER  RNEEER
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is ETREERHES ZIREE - T)
determined by considering the class of obligations as a BIBEEZERIEREER - HIE
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of ER—BEENAER—EEE
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the MEE S A ERE - DEHE
same class of obligations may be small. R o
Provisions are measured at the present value of the BERBHETETIERZZ
expenditures expected to be required to settle the REFE mMEbleEETRBE
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects eRIEHEERETRERR
current market assessments of the time value of money ZIRB IS AR AR IR K5t
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in o BEERERAMEN s &
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as HERAF B -

interest expense.

2.21 Revenue recognition 2.21 R
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration WaHiEAEEEHBEKBRER
received or receivable for the provision of services in RERBHE W EKRRERF
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is B WamEHNREENZIEET
shown net of value-added tax within the Group and after & - I B2 5 [H ) 2 55 65 FE X SH 1R
eliminating sales within the Group. 27 -
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of BEWRSEEMAISETE - KK
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that KEN=REAIERAEHER
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and MAEBEBEEEHHFE T XA
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s iz B4R AEEEgE
activities as described below. The amount of revenue Rz - RIFRIBEEEFHENTAE
is not considered to be reliably measurable until all NAFTHEHAEHEA  FAIKEE
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The BEIrSHEBENTETE - K
Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into SEHeREBEEFETZREFHE
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction Al XSGEEMBELERNEZ
and the specifics of each arrangement. fEL b & -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (continueqd)

Revenue from renewable energy refers to power dispatch
during commercial operation. Revenue from sales of
electricity is recognised at a point of time when it is
transferred to the customers. Commercial operation
starts upon obtaining a Power Purchase Agreement,
safety certificate from the State Electricity Regulatory
Commission (“SERC”) or Provincial Grid Authority, and
240 hours commissioning. Revenue attributable to the
sales of electricity generated during construction and
testing period is not included in the electricity sales
revenue, but is offset against the cost of property, plant
and equipment.

2.22 Leases

The Group’s leases consist of land lease and rental
of office premises. For rental of office premises, rental
contracts are typically made for fixed period of 1 to 2
years without extension options.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract
contains a lease. This assessment involves the exercise
of judgement about whether it depends on a specified
asset.

(@) Lease and non-lease components
Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group has elected not to
separately account for the lease and non-lease
components for leases of office premises.

(b) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, lease
liabilities are measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
term comprises the non-cancellable period with
addition of periods covered by options to extend the
lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
option or reasonably certain not to exercise the
termination option. This assessment is made on
inception of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Leases (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (continued)
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivables;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Company under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise
that option;

o payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Company
exercising that option; and

° lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options.
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEAMBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Leases (continued)

(©)

Incremental borrowing rate

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Company, which does
not have recent third party financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Leases (continued)
(d) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying assets is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are measured at

comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease

liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives

received;

° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the

underlying asset’s useful life.

Right-of-use assets are subject to testing for
impairment if impairment indicator exists. When
there is impairment, the impairment is expensed in

the profit or loss.

() Short-term leases and lease of low-value assets

Payments associated with short-term leases of
office premises and all leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. The

Group did not have any low-value assets.
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEAMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that
outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
the outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a
provision.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved.

2.25 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of
the loss allowance).

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, bank borrowings,
amount due to a shareholder and lease liabilities. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
It is the policy of the Group not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes.

The Board focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below:

(@) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors the
foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2020, if US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against Renminbi
respectively, with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s profit before tax would
have been HK$13.8 million lower/higher
respectively (2019: HK$9.1 million lower/
higher).
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3

- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEAMBRRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)

3.1

(@)

(b)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises
from bank borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder with variable rates, which expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group’s results and operating cash flows are
dependent on changes in market interest
rates.

The Group does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposures
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2020, if interest rates had
been 100 (2019: 100) basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s profit before income tax
would have decreased/increased by HK$7.9
million (2019: HK$4.1 million).

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in its restricted
cash, cash and cash equivalents, prepayments,
trade and other receivables, and financial guarantee
provided for credit facilities granted to certain
associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
The carrying amounts of restricted cash, cash

and cash equivalents,

prepayments, trade and

other receivables represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

()

Risk management

To manage the credit risk associated
with restricted cash and cash and cash
equivalents, most of the deposits are placed
with certain state-owned banks in the
PRC which are high-credit-quality financial
institutions and banks with high credit ratings
in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated with
trade and other receivables, the Group adopts
risk control measures to assess the credit
quality, to determine credit limits and approve
credit of customers, taking into account
their financial position and past experience.
The Group has been monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

| aannuzme

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMH¥RREER®E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 HMERBREE#E)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERKE)
() Risk management (continued) () EEEEE)

The Group is exposed to significant KEERENHEER
concentration of credit risk in terms of HEERESTHE
electricity sales as the Group’s sales of ERk RRAANSE
electricity were made to state-owned grid BENREBHET

companies. The Group normally does not
require collateral from trade debtors. It
normally grants credit terms of 30 days to
these state-owned grid companies. However,
part of the trade receivables, including those
held through associates, due from the state-
owned grid companies relate to government
subsidy which are subject to the government
allocation of the tariff surcharge for renewable
energy. Based on past experience and
industry practice, these tariff premiums are
generally paid after 12 months from the date
of the sales recognition, though it may take
longer to get paid in some circumstances
where the government needs more time to
allocate the tariff subsidies. Ageing analysis
of the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed
in Note 19. Management makes periodic
collective assessment as well as individual
assessment of the recoverability of trade and
other receivables based on historical payment
records, the length of the overdue period, the
financial strength of the debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the relevant
debtors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FREMBHRRM T
3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HWHERREER®E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BMERBREE#E)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EERKGE)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (i)  ZEEEZRE
While restricted cash and cash and cash ZREBFES MRS R
equivalents are also subject to impairment HeEEBYNTNEER

requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified

impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The Group has therefore concluded
that the expected loss rates for trade
receivables are a reasonable approximation.

The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of customers and
the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on the inflation
rate and the economic environment of the
PRC.
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... Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NEABMBBENS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

On that basis, the provision for impairment of
trade receivables as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 was determined by aged group.

Bt 7% L Be B R

/43 )

(42 )
(g /

31 HM¥EBEZXE)
by =Rk E)

(i)

31 December

TEEEZHE(E)
FEULBR 3R (48)

Bl R=ZT=FF
kZFE-—NF+=A
=+ —HBEKREZRM
BB TR R A
RIEE -

31 December

2020 2019

—F-FH —TNF

+=ZA=+—-B +=—A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FATT

Not yet due 7K 481 AP 213,033 102,018

Past due for: B8

Less than 30 days DH30H 369 335
More than 30 days and B iB30H 1B Re0R A

within 60 days - 334
More than 60 days and B A60H B RI0H A

within 90 days - 399

More than 90 days B iE90H 7,580 21,575

220,982 124,661
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(©)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to
meet its current obligations when they fall due. The
Group measures and monitors its liquidity through
the maintenance of prudent ratios regarding the
liquidity structure of the overall assets, liabilities,
loans and commitments of the Group. The Group
also maintains a conservative level of liquid
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient cash
flows to meet any unexpected and material cash
requirements in the course of ordinary business.

During the vyear, the Group complied with all
externally imposed loan covenant requirements to
which it is subject to.

The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities at the reporting
date. The table has been drawn up with reference
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group is
required to pay.
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NRE M RRM

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMHBERER®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 HHEEBERE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () wBESEAKE)
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over 5
1 year years years years Total
—£R —ZE-F CZ—ZHFE HENUE My
HK$000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000
FHEx FHT FHEx FHT FHEx
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZE-TF
+=-A=+—~H
Bank borrowings RITER 151,498 167,575 243,734 263,059 825,866
Trade and other payables BRERZR R

HoAth & 1 58 84,165 - - - 84,165

Amount due to a B —2RE
shareholder IR 196,874 - - - 196,874
Financial guarantee B ER 57,192 - - - 57,192
Lease liabilities HEEE 887 672 - - 1,559

At 31 December 2019 RZT—NF
+=A=+—~H
Bank borrowings RITER 159,147 108,931 250,449 304,459 822,986
Trade and other payables BRAERZR R

H {th JE 5% 187,278 = = = 187,278

Amount due to a BR—2RE
shareholder HIE 197,733 - - - 197,733
Financial guarantee B PR R 66,924 = = = 66,924
Lease liabilities HEAE 477 238 = - 715

3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXEBERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by reviewing the capital
structure. The capital structure of the Group consists
of debt and equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group considers the cost and the
risk associated with the capital. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares or conduct shares buy-back.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HWHERREER®E)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 3.2 EXBKBEEE)

The Group maintains its gearing ratio within the AEBERBEERE BA&5EE
reasonable range according to the Group’s strategy. FEELEEFNREEBEER o
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 RZEZZTFRZZT-NF+=A

were as follows: =t+—RAZEXRBRLEENT:

2020 2019

= —TNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Current portion of bank borrowings 8 17 f& X BN HA &8 5 121,070 126,407

Bank borrowings RITER 552,182 522,095

Amount due to a shareholder B — R R R RIE 196,874 197,733

Total borrowings CEEEs 870,126 846,235

Less: Bank deposits and cash WIRITERRE S (192,907) (309,757)

Net debt position B FEAM MR 677,219 536,478

Total equity i g 1,913,399 1,729,562

Gearing ratio ERBERE 35.4% 31.0%

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AT EMF

The Group has no assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The carrying values of trade and other receivables,
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, current portion of bank borrowings,
amount due to a shareholder and lease liabilities
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.
The carrying values of variable rate borrowings
approximate their fair values as the impact of discounting
using the relevant rate is not significant.
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NRE M RRM

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(@) Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets (mainly related to land lease) related to
power plants in the Mainland China
Plant and equipment are reviewed by management
for impairment losses whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use of the
plant and equipment. Management makes judgements
on whether such events or changes in circumstances
have occurred, and makes estimates in determining the
recoverable amount. In the situation where the value in
use of plant and equipment cannot be assessed due to
the uncertainties of the operation model in the future,
management has assessed the respective recoverable
amount solely based on the fair value less costs to
sell. Provision is made when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not
be recovered.
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REMB WK

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continueaq)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets (mainly related to land lease) related to
power plants in the Mainland China (continued)
The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, right-of-use assets (mainly related
to land lease) related to power plants in the Mainland
China have suffered any impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable in accordance with the
relevant accounting policies. The Group reviews certain
indicators of potential impairment such as operating
performance, actual electricity dispatched, tariff of
electricity and other general market conditions.

If an indication of impairment is identified, the need for
recognising an impairment loss is assessed by comparing
the carrying amount of the assets, to the higher of (i)
the fair value less cost to sell, and (i) the value in use of
the cash-generating units. The value in use of the cash-
generating units represents estimated future cash flows
from the continuous use of the assets, and requires
complex assumptions and estimates such as future
electricity dispatched, tariff of electricity and discount
rates. The discount rates used to discount the estimated
future cash flows are based on the relevant industry sector
risk premium and the gearing ratio.

4 EABHEERY

(a)
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets (mainly related to land lease) related to
power plants in the Mainland China (continued)

During the year, the Group has performed impairment
assessment on the power plants in the Mainland China
with impairment indicators. The value in use calculation
was based on the key assumptions, including (i) average
annual tariff increment at approximately 1% (2019:
2%) based on management’s expectation on market
development and general inflation, and (i) projection of
volume of electricity dispatched based on the operational
feasibility reports and historical performances. The pre-
tax discount rates applied to the cash flow projections
are 12.99%-13.32% per annum (2019: 11.07%—-12.20%).

Based on the impairment assessment, the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units are higher than their
respective carrying amounts.

Judgement is required in the area of impairment. If there
is a significant adverse change in the key assumptions, it
may be necessary to have an impairment charge to the
income statement.

With all other variables held constant, if there is no
average annual tariff increment (2019: no) throughout the
operating period, the recoverable amount would be higher
than the carrying amount (2019: same). Similarly, with all
other variables held constant, if the volume of electricity
dispatched is 10% (2019: 10%) less than management
expectation, the recoverable amount would be less than
the carrying amount by HK$12.4 million (2019: HK$7.4
million).

112 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2020

4

EXg

(a)

t fd & % H B ()

HABEAMEREREEAZY
¥ KBRZE BREER
FEHAEEE(EEHIHWEE
BB zZRBEMNEE)
AEERN  AEEERAEBRE
B35 B P B K B B R B R (B
G o EREETENEREE
FEBEMMEL  2HF: (ER
EEEHMBEEREAEEAEIR
ZTEH - BEFHEERILIEN1%
(ZE—NF:2%) : R()RESE
EAITHRERBAERE 2 HEE
B2 REE - BARBRER=2
TER 2 B BT BA 3R R 5 F12.99%
£13.32% (ZZ—1F : 11.07% =
12.20%) °

REREN G REELEUZ
AhoeEsSRNEZEREE -

énﬁéiijiz_ﬂm@] ?E %—f

BRORLE R X -

REER B R

E%EEM BRI
R EEFHASFFOE
E?ﬁﬂfﬂiﬂa(_f NEF )
AREeESEREEE(CE—
AFHER) - B - ERAHE

WBBEHTRIERT - %
EERNEEERHPI10% (=
A £ 10%) - TR Bl B4 5

BR M 812,400,000 L (ZE— N,
£ 17,400,000 7T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives and residual value of property, plant
and equipment

Management of the Company and its subsidiaries
determine the estimated useful lives, residual value and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on projected wear and
tear incurred during power generation. This could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations on power
generators. Management will adjust the estimated useful
lives where useful lives vary with previously estimated
useful lives. It is reasonably possible, based on existing
knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year
that are different from current assumptions could require
material adjustments to the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential tax
exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will affect the income tax and deferred
tax provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.
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5

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
The amount of each significant category of revenue and other
income recognised during the year is as follows:

W= & H AU A
AEFERERZSETEWRzE R EM KA
MRl BN :

2020 2019
—E-EHE —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Revenue Y &=

Sales of electricity EHHEE 206,122 181,223

Other income Ha g A
Value-added tax refund HEH RN 6,506 4,522
Government subsidies IR I 8 B 536 -
Net exchange gain BE 5, Uy %5 0% 58 17,616 -
Others =i} 4,778 66
29,436 4,588

Sales of electricity were all generated by the wind power plants
and a distributed solar project of the Group. The Group has a
single reportable segment which is renewable energy segment.
As the Group does not have significant material operations
outside the PRC, no geographic segment information is
presented.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue
for reportable segment from external customers of HK$206.1
million (2019: HK$181.2 million) is only attributable to the China
market.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has three
customers with revenue exceeding 10% of the Group’s total
revenue (2019: three customers). Revenues from the customers
amounted to HK$90.2 million, HK$70.8 million and HK$40.4
million (2019: HK$92.8 million, HK$32.7 million and HK$51.2
million) respectively.
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mEMBHRRME
6 OTHER LOSSES 6 HttEia
The amount of each significant category of other losses AEANBERZSTEHMEBEER 2
recognised during the year is as follows: SREMT:
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT T T
Write-off of construction in progress TE3E T2 408y (4,199) -
Loss on disposal of property, LEME - WRRREZ
plant and equipment B8 - (3,280)
Loss arising from liquidation of a subsidiary REHI B AR 58 2 &8 - (1,120)
(4,199) (4,400)
The amount of write-off of construction in progress represents ERIEMESERREBEAREEZS
costs previously incurred for the construction of certain wind TRABEUHMEENER  MEE
power plants which the management has decided to terminate BERFRRAEXRIEBBEALR -
during the year.
7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 EBMEBEszZBEX
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT T T
Auditor’s remuneration = HAD BN &
— Audit services - BZR 996 1,525
- Non-audit services - EEZR 204 410
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) £ /iZ & B # 85 (M 5£17) 721 706
Depreciation of property, plant and M MBERBEITE
equipment (Note 14) (B 5E14) 95,444 85,762
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) ¥ BiE & E T &
(Bt 5£16) 2,293 1,250
Net exchange loss i BB F R - 3,083
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAMAX
directors’ emoluments) (Note 10) (BREEEH2)
(Mt 3E10) 20,076 19,613
Rental expenses relating to short-term HEHEEREEN
leases BB 276 1,264
Repair and maintenance expenses HERRERI 5,129 3,374
Corporate expenses PERX 843 813
Legal and professional fees FEERBEER 583 626
Management service fee EERKE 1,096 1,106
Other expenses H b 24,145 19,880
Total cost of sales and administrative HEMARITHE AR
expenses 151,806 139,412
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8 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8 HMBWARMERAK
2020 2019
—E_EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHE T FAET
Finance costs: BE KA
— interest expenses on bank borrowings - PRITEEAN B (36,956) (29,503)
- interest expenses on amount due - BRI —RBBRERIEZ
to a shareholder (Note 28) M ERX
(Fff 5£28) (8,817) (10,446)
— interest expenses on lease liabilities - HEABEZFEAX (102) (16)
(45,875) (39,965)
Less: amounts capitalised (Note) W BEENMEZE&H
(B 3E) 5,675 12,464
(40,200) (27,501)
Finance income: Ep N
— interest income on bank deposits - RITFHF BUA 2,695 2,625
Finance costs — net BERKAK - FEE (87,505) (24,876)
Note: B &

AREERTEMEOBERASHENERA
ERFAREE - REFERNMEFHF X -

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of finance costs to be
capitalised was the weighted average interest rate applicable to the Group’s
general borrowings during the year, in this case 4.82% (2019: 4.82%). Such REE R4.82% (ZF—NF:4.82%) - EETITE
finance costs were ceased to be capitalised after the construction in progress ERZZEZZEFRAATIRERME R RE
were transferred to property, plant and equipment upon completion in May 2020. & ZEREXREATHTUAERL -
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REMB WK

9 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three directors (2019: three) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note
32. The emoluments payable to the remaining two (2019: two)
individuals during the year are as follows:

TEBREMEAL
AEE AEELERSHFALERE=
FCE-NFZR)EE REZH
SERKEIRZ2TNZ AP RER - K4F
ERAENBTMA(CE-NF MA)
ERALTZBMET :

2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Basic salaries, housing allowances, other ~ EA¥ & - (B #28h -

allowances and benefits in kind H b= AE K'Y = 1,668 1,569
Bonuses TE4L 152 140
Retirement scheme contributions RORET 23R 99 135
1,919 1,844

The emoluments fell within the following bands: eZERDHTUOT :

Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-NF
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) B & & Bl (B 7T)
HK$nil-HK$1,000,000 = 7 £1,000,0005 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000 1,000,0017%& T &
2,000,000 7T 1 1
10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EERAMAX
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE&  HFakHEMmEH 18,745 16,987
(Reversal)/provision for unused annual leave & F & 2 (¥ E),~
B (96) 3
Pension costs — defined contribution plan iR K4 B 4~ — i 28 it X
(Note a) &8 (M Ea) 1,427 2,623
20,076 19,613
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NEAMBRRME

Financial Statements

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

11

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension scheme in the PRC
is at a percentage in compliance with the requirements of respective
municipal governments. The Group also participates in the MPF scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme
vest immediately.

Contributions totaling HK$31,000 (2019: HK$28,000) were payable under
the MPF scheme at 31 December 2020.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019. Mainland China income tax includes
corporate income tax which has been provided on the estimated
assessable profits of subsidiaries operating in the Mainland
China at a rate of 25% (2019: 25%). Withholding tax was
provided for distributed and undistributed profits of associates
in the Mainland China at a rate of 10% (2019: 10%).

10 BERANBAX @)

11

Mo

@ NEBERFEEBRAKSTEEL 2 #5%K
DERBEBRNRARE ZBDREL o K
SENBEREBRGMEAES T EEH
AXERERBEROEEZEERMHERE
Sit8l c MBS ERHBUETATE
ZEBHFCGEIARETE - RigaESE
ExREEVEZBESHBAKA 25%
M BIELER - S AZEBRA LR
£30,000/8 7T © AT 8 {EH 2 R BIEF55
E o

(b) RZZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H REARR
S BB TR 2 504 31,0008 7T (=
T —f.4F : 28,000/ 7T) °

Fri8 %X H
HRAEEHE T -_TFER TN
F+Z A=+ —HIEFETERRT &
B MW EXEEFETRAEDLBE -
FEAEMSH(BECEMSH)IZ
PR B K B B AR 2 5T B R T
S 3R25% (ZE— N F:25%) 2
A B o TEIN R 17 FR P B oK B
EBRNAIZEDRERD KT + #10%
—E—N 1 10%) 2 T RIEH S o

2020 2019

—EZEF —ZT—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FE T

Current income tax BN EA AT 15 Ft (4,223) (1,664)

Withholding tax on dividends BERE 2B (5,001) (6,842)
Deferred income tax (expense)/credit, EEFEH (LX)

net (Note 25) e 588 (M 5E25) (1,037) 361

Income tax expense Frig 8 i (10,261) (8,145)

Note:

The share of income tax expense of associates of HK$17.0 million (2019: HK$13.9

million) is included in the Group’s share of results of associates.
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REMB WK

11  INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as

KAEBFMB meﬂzmﬁ B8 5%
A O s FIE Bz i FH B KA
BzEwmHMBEZEZOT:

follows:
2020 2019
—E-%F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F& T
Profit before income tax FT 15 % Bl & K 96,327 65,994
Less: Share of results of associates Ve /N (54,279) (48,871)
I 42,048 17128
Tax calculated at the tax rate, 25% #25% (ZE— &
(2019: 25%) 25%) 2 T EFTHE 2
=] (10,512) (4,281)
Effect of different tax rates TR E 2 F 28 7,352 6,491
Expenses not deductible for taxation A 2 5 i
purpose (3,365) (8,994)
Income not subject to tax BAERM WA 378 367
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FANFERER 2B
tax losses B8 3,621 1,475
Withholding tax on dividends and BeEARIRMBARZ
undistributed profits of associates and BHERKREFK A
subsidiaries FE 2 BEME (7,735) (8,203)
Income tax expense FriS i & i (10,261) (8,145)
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 ERER
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit ERABFNDBEBEARRGERFTBAR
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted 1 & F ﬁfr}lfxi NEZEITELBR 2 Nk
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. TG E
2020 2019
_ 7 _— E‘E :E@—ﬁ_]fﬁ
Profit attributable to equity holders of the ~ ARARIEZRIFHFA A
Company (HK$ thousand) &4 & A (F 78 7T) 86,152 57,376
Weighted average number of ordinary BRETERARKRZ
shares in issue (thousand) Hn#E 39 E(F k) 2,506,157 2,506,157
Earnings per share (HK cents per share) FRAF (@B 3.44 2.29
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NRE M RRM

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12 SREBRE)
Basic and fully diluted earnings per share are the same as REBEEZ-_ZE-_EFE-_FT—NLF+=H
the Company did not have any dilutive equity instruments =+—HILFEE r KAR W EE A #E
throughout the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. R TR HEREALR 2 EE
SBRANSEMER -
13 DIVIDENDS 13 KA
2020 2019
—E-EF —NFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Interim dividend paid, of HKO0.4 cents ERFERE - Bk
(2019: HKO.4 cents) per ordinary share T/ A 0.478 1
—E-NF:
0.4711l) 10,025 10,025
Final dividend proposed, of HK0.4 cents BMERHARS K
(2019: HKO.4 cents) per ordinary share 58 A% 0.478 1
Z—NF:
0.47A1l1) 10,025 10,025

On 18 March 2021, the Board has resolved to declare a final
dividend of HKO.4 cents per ordinary share payable in cash
for the year ended 31 December 2020. As the proposed final
dividend is declared after the reporting date, such dividend is
not recognised as liability as at 31 December 2020.

On 20 August 2020, the Board has resolved to declare an
interim dividend of HKO0.4 cents per ordinary share payable in
cash for the six months ended 30 June 2020, total of HK$10.0
million was paid in September 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board has resolved
to declare a final dividend of HKO.4 cents per ordinary share
payable in cash, total of HK$10.0 million was paid in June 2020.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB WK

14 Y% - WEERRE

Electricity Furniture,
utility plant fixtures and Motor
and others  equipment vehicles Total
ERR KM -£#EB
Hit ] A= # 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAERT THET TAERT THET
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—-h&E—HA—H
Cost DN 1,331,039 2,093 1,263 1,334,395
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2347 E M HE (507,049) (1,056) (743)  (508,848)
Net book amount REFE 823,990 1,037 520 825,547
Year ended 31 December 2019 BEE-Z-NE
tZA=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FOE@TFE 823,990 1,037 520 825,547
Currency translation differences EHBREZER (20,716) (16) (@) (20,739)
Additions NE 7,980 64 - 8,044
Transfer from construction in progress HEREETR 302,642 - - 302,642
Disposal HeE (10,543) - - (10,543)
Depreciation & (85,302) (292) (168)  (85762)
Closing net book amount FREMEFE 1,018,051 793 345 1,019,189
At 31 December 2019 R=E-AE+=A=t—8H
Cost DN 1,591,904 1,949 1,237 1,595,090
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2347 E M HE (578,853) (1,156) 892)  (575,901)
Net book amount BRmEFE 1,018,051 793 345 1,019,189
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-ZE-2F
tZA=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FOEEFE 1,018,051 793 345 1,019,189
Currency translation differences EHBREZER 81,296 49 29 81,374
Additions NE 142 298 245 685
Transfer from construction in progress HEREETR 279,401 - - 279,401
Depreciation e (94,987) (291) (166) (95,444)
Closing net book amount FREMZEE 1,283,903 849 453 1,285,205
At 31 December 2020 R-ZB-ZEH+-A=+—AH
Cost B AR 1,998,004 2,348 1,206 2,001,558
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2T ERRE (714,101) (1,499) (753)  (716,353)
Net book amount BREFE 1,283,903 849 453 1,285,205
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NRE M RRM

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14 Y% BERREE)

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the ETROBRDDBAEAEEEREDE
Group’s property, plant and equipment with carrying values of 1,245,900,0008 L (ZE—NF :
HK$1,245.9 million (2019: HK$980.1 million) (Note 23). 980,100,000/ 70) v & T - #aEX

&t 1 AR (P 5E23) -

15 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 15 E#IZ
Total
et
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2019 RZE—hF—A—H 321,004
Currency translation differences fE R InE =5 (4,805)
Additions NE 210,272
Transfer to property, plant and equipment HEEYE BERZE (302,642)
Write-off e (1,120)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-—NF+=-A=+—H 222,709
At 1 January 2020 RZE-_TF—HA—H 222,709
Currency translation differences [EHInE =5 640
Additions NE 60,251
Transfer to property, plant and equipment HEZYE BERRZRE (279,401)
Write-off i 85 (4,199)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-_ZFE+-_A=+—H -
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16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/PREPAID LAND LEASE

16 FHEEE AN HBEER

PAYMENTS

Prepaid land lease Right-of-use
payments assets
8 £ + 70 & =% ERAEEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHE T
At 1 January 2019 R=ZE—hF—HA—H 10,257 -

Reclassification on adoption of HKFRS 16 FRNE BB R EER F1655
ZEHHE (10,257) 10,257
Currency translation differences MR E =R = (203)
Additions NE = 909
Depreciation e - (1,250)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NF+ZA=+—H = 9,713
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE=-_TF—H—H - 9,713
Currency translation differences MR E =R - 938
Additions NE - 7,717
Depreciation e - (2,293)
At 31 December 2020 RZE_TF+=—RA=+—H - 16,075

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s
right-of-use assets (mainly related to land lease) with carrying
values of HK$5.7 million (2019: HK$6.2 million) (Note 23).

As at 31 December 2020, the net book amount of the Group’s
right-of-use assets consist of rentals of land and office premises
of HK$14.6 million (2019: HK$9.0 million) and HK$1.5 million

(2019: HK$0.7 million) respectively.

The total cash outflow of leases is amounted to HK$1.1 million
during the year (2019: HK$0.1 million).

ETROBRITHAEBEREEE
5,700,000 8 T2 & THERAEEE(XE
WA EEEH) EERCCE—NE:
6,200,000 7T ) (fft 5523) °

R-ZE-_TFE+-A=+—H AEEZ
FREESERRTHERADERS -
H B8R AR B Bl 514,600,000 7T (=
T — .4 : 9,000,000 7T) 1,500,000
BIL(ZZF — L4 : 700,000 7T) °

AREEHHEEIRE R 4% 51,100,000
BT (ZZF— L5 - 100,000 7T) ©
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NEEMBERWE

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BREEE
Computer Concession

software right Total

E e B Mt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FB T FHET FB T
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—-hE—A—H
Cost BN 2,355 186,978 189,333
Accumulated amortisation and impairment £ &t ## 4 & 5 & (968) (183,751) (184,719)
Net book amount BREFE 1,387 3,227 4,614
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z—N&
+-A=+—-HLFE
Opening net book amount FHREFEE 1,387 3,227 4,614
Currency translation differences ERBEEE (23) (59) (82)
Additions NE 9 = 9
Amortisation #H (343) (363) (706)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 1,030 2,805 3,835
At 31 December 2019 R=-ZB-hF+=A=+—H
Cost BN 2,324 183,169 185,493
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2 &+ §4 & FE (1,294) (180,364) (181,658)
Net book amount R FE 1,030 2,805 3,835
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_ZT_-ZfF
+-A=+—-HLFE

Opening net book amount FHRMEFE 1,030 2,805 3,835
Currency translation differences ERMEERE 53 168 221
Additions NE 164 - 164
Amortisation B 5y (363) (358) (721)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 884 2,615 3,499
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-_ZEF+=-A=+—8H
Cost PR AR 2,626 195,666 198,292
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 255§ & F & (1,742) (193,051)  (194,793)
Net book amount BREFE 884 2,615 3,499
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FREMBHRRM T
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 REtE AR ZER
2020 2019
—E_EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Group’s share of net assets AEEELEEFE 909,595 848,291
The following financial information, after making adjustments TG BFER (KHBUNEAEEETE
to conform with the Group’s significant accounting policies, EETHE BN AEE S L EEHE
represents the Group’s aggregate share of assets, liabilities, NN EHBHRIELTRRCEE - B
revenue and results of associates, all of which are unlisted, and B WEREL BRI T:
is summarised as below:
2020 2019
3 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TATT
Assets BE 1,380,548 1,325,738
Liabilities aE (470,953) (477,447)
Net assets BEFHE 909,595 848,291
Revenue & 181,315 192,418
Profit for the year N i A 54,279 48,871
Particulars of the associates are set out on Note 33. RN = = 9 L R I
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18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 REBEQNTR 2R (#
Set out below are the summarised financial information for the THEHBEAEEKLE QR ZHEER
associates of the Group. 1 3t
Summarised income statement for the year ended BE+t-BA=+—HLEEZEH®
31 December L g
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power  CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
HEEERANEE hEEBEENRE HEEEEHE)
(EH)ERAT (B ERAR ENREARAR @t
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

ZEZEf ZE-NFE 22§ ZB-NF ZEBZEF ZB-AF ZEB-EF ZZ-nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiET TER THET TR FiEx TR FiET

Revenue L 188,646 191,862 94,146 94,266 194,032 218,483 476,824 504,611
Other expense HitA% (36,137) (85,345) (6,429) (16,541) (35,911) (19,552) (78,477) (121,438)
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH (75,171) (76,445) (44,098) (45,205) (78,554) (80,459) (197,823) (202,109)
Finance costs - net BREXREA-FR (9,289) (12,704) (9,387) (11,332) (6,250) (11,396) (24,926) (35,432)
Current income tax expense EHRBH X (22,443) (10,542) (8,287) = (13,900) (19,010) (44,630) (29,552)
Deferred income tax credit EEMBEHRESR 6,380 6,482 - = 4,838 4,915 11,218 11,397
Profit for the year REFRF 51,986 13,308 25,945 21,188 64,255 92,981 142,186 127,477
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Ht2ERA/(BE) 28,903 (16,890) 26,803 (7,447) 93,433 (20,307) 149,139 (44,644)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EBA /(BB #E8 80,889 (3,582) 52,748 13,741 157,688 72,674 291,325 82,833
Dividends declared by associates BERRERZRE (7,942) (23,373) (5,197) (9,315) (36,812) (35,674) (49,951) (68,362
Summarised statement of financial position as at RT-A=+t—B 2z HBRREKHE
31 December it
CECIC HKC Wind Power  CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
TEHEERRANRE THREBRRANRE hEREEE(H®)
(RIE)BRAR (RE)BERAF BAREERAR @it
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

SESRE ZRNF CSRCRFE ZFNF SBCSRF ZTNF CRSRF ZRAA
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$O00 — HK§'000 — HK§000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TR FBT TiEx FRT TEx THL TR FBT

Non-current assets FRBEE 1,095,920 1,120,277 555,939 556,231 1,129,750 1148311 2,781,609 2,824,819
Current assets mEAE 233,814 220,109 97,092 81,004 502,113 347,722 833,019 648,835
Total assets BEME 1,329,734 1,340,386 653,031 637,235 1,631,863  1496,033 3,614,628 3,473,654
Non-current liabilties ~ JEREN&E 67,752 66,905 143,780 179,217 47,750 49,524 259,282 295,646
Current liabilities mE AR 329,773 402,306 83,168 67,361 561,897 489,950 974,838 959,617
Total liabilities BERE 397,525 469,211 226,948 246,578 609,647 530,474 1,234,120 1,255,263
Net assets BEFE 932,209 871,175 426,083 390,657 1,022,216 956,559 2,380,508 2,218,391
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mEMBHRRME
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 MEtE QTR E)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the P ERRMEE AR RN BRE 2
financial statements of the associates adjusted for any fair value 238 REBEERERZEMNATE
adjustments made at the time of acquisition. BEFAEMAE o
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented REEBNHBENRERETESZY
to the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in its associates: 2 BF T A R i ¥ B
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
THRERENRE TEREERNRE TEREEE(HE)
(RE)BRAR (RL)BERAR BAREERAR Fo
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
“F-%%F ZTNF -F-FF ZEONF SF-FF OZTONF CRSFF TN
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000
THER FHT THER FAET TER FAT THER FHT
At 1 January ®—A—H
Opening net assets EMEERE 871,175 933,190 390,657 407,966 956,559 973070 2,218,391 2,314,226
Profit for the year AEEREF 51,986 13,308 25,945 21,188 64,255 92,981 142,186 127,477
Other comprehensive Income/  EZ2EKA /

(loss) (&) 28,903 (16,890) 26,803 (7.447) 93,433 (20,307) 149,139 (44,644)
Dividends ) (19,856)  (58,439) (17,322)  (31,050)  (92,031) (89,185)  (129,209)  (178,668)
At 31 December ®R+=A=+—-H
Closing net assets EREESE 932,208 871175 426,083 390,857 1,022,216 956550 2,380,507 2,218,391
Reporting entities’ share in % HR#®HZERE 2 AN 40% 40% 30% 30% 40% 40% NATER NATEH
Group’s interests in associates & BB & AR 2 % 372,883 348470 127,825 17197 408,887 382,624 909,505 848,201

19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 19 FARAR - BWERRRHEMER
RECEIVABLES ES
2020 2019
—F=FF —TAF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FHET FAET
Non-current ¥ RE
Prepayments AR (b) - 2,944
Other receivables b FE YK ©) 51,185 56,115
51,185 59,059
Current T E
Trade receivables JE Ui AR 3K (@) 220,982 124,661
Prepayments and other receivables 8 - 7t & E b & U 7% © 211,990 190,818
e 432,972 315479
484,157 374,538
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NEARBRENE

19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

19 BN BRRRKEUERK

B 5
The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the Group’s revenue (@) RER  BAEBRRBRBRE D ZE
recognition policy at year end was as follows: I BR SR BRBE DATIAT -
2020 2019
—E-ZF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHIT
Less than 30 days L HRB0H 51,364 35,641
More than 30 days and within 60 days B #@30HE R60H A 9,153 7,594
More than 60 days and within 90 days B iB60H B R0A R 6,707 5,853
More than 90 days B B90H 153,758 75,573
220,982 124,661
The ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice date at year end was RER - RBEZEBHE S 2 ERERERR
as follows: (Note i) AT - (B FED
2020 2019
ZEZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT F& T
Less than 30 days 308 213,402 102,018
More than 30 days and within 60 days B iB30H B R60B R - 335
More than 60 days and within 90 days HBiB60BEN0AR - 334
More than 90 days 8 3iB90H 7,580 21,974
220,982 124,661
Note i: Mt i
The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its trade customers. AEBEREESEPIRESH0BZE
Receivables from sales of electricity are usually settled on a monthly basis Ef -ENHECERERBATHAS
by the state-owned grid companies. Included in trade receivables were ERARIRALEE - ERERTBEEEK
tariff subsidy receivables of HK$194.6 million (2019: HK$107.5 million), = 2 85194,600,000/8 T (—E— L& ¢
representing the government subsidies on renewable energy projects to 107,500,000 7T.) » bt J5 4R 45 38 17 BT K
be received from the stated-owned grid companies in accordance with KNREEEEARIMEAABAERRE
the prevailing government policies. Based on the credit history of the BEGHA - RETFPZEERLHE - BE
customers, it is expected that the amounts will be received eventually ZEFBEHKLEEWE BT B EELNRD
and there is no recent history of default. The Group does not hold any B o REBUWERBHEZSZEKERER
collateral in relation to these receivables. ZAEAEARR -
As at 31 December 2019, the balance includes prepayments of HK$2.9 (b) RZZFE-—hF+ZA=+—0 &£8%8%

million for purchase of wind farm’s equipment for the relevant construction
work.
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mEMBHRRME
19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 19 FEME - FEUR R 3K % B4 FE Uk 3K

RECEIVABLES (continued) (&)

Notes: (continued) MigE: ()

(©) Included in current and non-current other receivables were input value- (© T B & 3E T B E A B MR R AT 30
added taxation recoverable of HK$51.4 million (2019: HK$54.8 million) IR (EBI51,400,0008 L (ZF—NF -
arising from purchase of property, plant and equipment, and dividend 54,800,000 7T) - WIREBHEEWE - #eE
receivables from associates of HK$191.7 million (2019: HK$164.5 million). KRR 48 - T e W & A ) AR 2.191,700,000

7L (ZZ — L% : 164,500,000% 7T) °

(d) The carrying amount of the Group’s prepayments, trade and other (d) AEF B - FE R R R E fth B UK

receivables is denominated in the following currencies: BREENATIE®E:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F#& T
Hong Kong dollars BT 187 304
Renminbi AR 483,882 374,147
Singapore dollars o 88 87
484,157 374,538
©) The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying (e) RFEBHEERBRZ&ESEALMEE
value of each class of receivables mentioned above. Rl WK 2 BREA °
A bank borrowing is secured by certain of the Group’s trade receivables SRITIE Ty A S EBR M {E169,200,0007%
with carrying values of HK$169.2 million (2019: HK$79.9 million) (Note TL(ZZE—F :79,900,000/8 L) 2 & T &
23). Ut B SRR 4 48 (3£ 23) ©
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 RERBRESEEY
2020 2019
—s-%%  =F-h%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERE 104,954 233,886
Bank deposits with original maturities §J HAOR=1EAH
of less than three months 1TER 87,953 75,871
192,907 309,757
Less: Restricted cash (Note) B PR HIIR & (B ) (2,502) (2,342)
190,405 307,415
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NRE M RRM

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 20 RERBRESEEWHE)
Note: B =
The amount represents cash at bank of RMB2.1 million due to ongoing legal ZeBIERITHES ARY2100,0007T ' TERE
case of Songxian. The balance is subject to court decision and not available for BRIEEITHERRM o & RT AR #R TR HI
general use before the settlement of the legal case. EREBRRGERITARE—RAS -
2020 2019
—BR-RfF —EAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Cash and cash equivalents and RekB2EEBYR
restricted cash ZR#IR S
(@ Placed in banks in the PRC: @ FHRPBRERT:
- denominated in Renminbi -UARKEE 64,661 191,198
- denominated in Hong Kong dollars - OB TTRNE 30,886 36,789
- denominated in US dollars - UETEFE 30 1,430
(b) Placed in banks in Hong Kong: b) FHREBESRIT:
- denominated in Hong Kong dollars - LABTEE 16,963 26,073
- denominated in Renminbi - UARKEE 18,182 154
- denominated in US dollars - LAETTEHE 61,989 53,861
(¢) Cash in hand () FHEHK2 196 252
192,907 309,757
The effective interest rates at the reporting date were as follows: RMEBB 2 EEFENOT
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$ RMB USD HK$ RMB uSD
BT ARH EY BT AR X
Bank deposits REER DR
with original =& A& ER1T
maturities of 73
less than three 2.11% 2.52% N/A
months 0.24% -2.42% 0.40% -2.80% i@ A 2.20%
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REMB WK

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

21

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the carrying value of the cash and bank balance stated above.

Significant restrictions

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$95.6 million (2019: HK$229.4
million) are held in the Mainland China and are subject to
local exchange control regulations, under which the balances
could not be exported freely out of the Mainland China. The
repatriation of fund out from the Mainland China is possibly
conducted by way of dividends or other means as complied to
the regulations.

SHARE CAPITAL

20

21

EQ&EQEE%@J
RBERY  ZFSZEREARALEX
A ik ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ S8R 2 IREME °

B KR H

RPBRAERENESEESS
& #195,600,0007% T(=Z T — )L F:
229,400,000/ 7T) 7B 38 18 & Hb ) E &
RT B Z5EHBRTE amzm¢

BARE - EerEBREHEAME
HE 77 2 S B R B K RE o
RN

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

BREEOIB T 2L ER
Number of
shares HK$’000
BB EE FET
Issued and fully paid: BETERERE:
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, R-ZT—AF—HF—H -
1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 —Z—AF+-_A=+—8 -
—E-TF—FR—HE
ZEZEF+ZA=+—H 2,506,157,464 25,062

REIBES
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NEEMBERWE

22 RESERVES

22 f#iE
Share Exchange Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
% 43 )% & & X &2 et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET TET THET
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZE—hF
—B—B2&# 925,856 (25,202) 802,850 1,703,504
Currency translation differences fERinE =5
- subsidiaries ENE = (18,413) = (18,413)
— associates - Bt A A = (17,113) = (17,113)
Dividend paid BT’ E = = (20,049) (20,049)
Profit for the year N F 5 5 A = = 57,376 57,376
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZZE—h%F
T A=+—RB2&% 925,856 (60,728) 840,177 1,705,305
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZEZEHF
—A—Bz#&&#% 925,856 (60,728) 840,177 1,705,305
Currency translation differences fERinE =5
- subsidiaries =G - 60,873 - 60,873
- associates NG - 56,976 - 56,976
Dividend paid BT’ E - - (20,049) (20,049)
Profit for the year N4 [E 5 A - - 86,152 86,152
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-ZZE_TF
TZA=t+—HZ & 925,856 57,121 906,280 1,889,257
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FREMBEBMERME
23 BANK BORROWINGS 23 WITENR
2020 2019
—g-=F e
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHER FAT
Non-current EME 552,182 522,095
Current Vi) 121,070 126,407
673,252 648,502
Amounts of HK$49 million (2019: HK$112 million) of bank /% 849,000,000 T(Z & — 11 F -
borrowings issued at variable rates are secured and guaranteed 112,000,000 7T) & 7% 8) F| B & 17 2
by HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”) (Note 28). RITERETFEAR  THEBEZR(OE
BR)BRAR ([FAERD EER(ME
28) °
Notes: Bt 3%
(@) The maturity of bank borrowings at the reporting date is as follows: (@) RIEBHRITERZENHBELT
2020 2019
—E=FF —FNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 121,070 126,407
In the second year F_F 142,124 81,052
In the third to fifth year FE=FEFERF 190,822 192,343
After the fifth year AF#& 219,236 248,700
673,252 648,502
(b) The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following (o) R ZBREER T E B E:
currencies:
2020 2019
—E-%F —FNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T
Hong Kong dollars BT 187,500 100,000
Renminbi AR 485,752 548,502
673,252 648,502
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N RABBRER

23 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

24

(©

4= /= =H
23 R 1T fE K
s (88)
The effective interest rate for variable rate bank borrowings at the () AEFRRITERRBRESAR 2 BEA X
reporting date was 4.11% (2019: 4.77%). The effective interest rate for BAN% (ZF—NEF  4.77%) ° B EF X
fixed rate bank borrowings at the reporting date was 6.30% (2019: BITERRNREBH 2 BRFER6.30%
6.26%). (ZZE—NF:6.26%) °
Bank borrowings are secured by certain property, plant and equipment, (d) RITERIARNERE T - HERF
right-of-use assets (mainly related to land lease) and trade receivables of B FREESE(ZZRIHEEFHA R
the Group (Notes 14, 16 and 19). JEE L2 BR R AR 4 4R (B 5514~ 161%19) ©
The Group had an undrawn borrowing facility amounted to HK$25 million (e) R-ZE-_ZTF+_fF=+—HH AEE2Z
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$220 million). RIE FAE F R A %8 425,000,000 7T (= F
— L4 : 220,000,000 JT) °
The fair value of the fixed rate bank borrowings as at 31 December 2020 (f) R-E_TF+_A=+—H BEM=X
is HK$94 million (2019: HK$107 million). The carrying amounts of the 1T 18 2 A T {E A94,000,0007 7T (=
remaining bank borrowings approximate their fair values. T —AF : 107,000,000/ T)  #8 NER1TE
RZEEEEEANFERS -
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the (9) AEBEFTNBERR AR &
contractual repricing dates or maturity (whichever is earlier) at the end AHNEFETEAHKIPAUREES
of the reporting period are as follows: VIR ¢
2020 2019
—E-TF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET Fi#& T
6 months or less NE AT 502,052 476,732
6-12 months ANE+ZEA 39,319 55,770
541,371 532,502
AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER 24 B —BRRHKE

The Company entered into a loan facility agreement with
Creator Holdings Limited (@ company indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric), under which the Company might
borrow up to HK$300 million until 31 December 2022. The
loan was unsecured, interest bearing at 3.5% per annum over
one-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate on outstanding
principal amount and was repayable on demand. The balance is
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 December 2020,
the outstanding loan balance and interest expense payable
amounted to HK$195.0 million (2019: HK$195.0 million) and
HK$1.9 million (2019: HK$2.7 million) respectively.
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B o WERAEEF  LU—M@AFHE
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REMB WK

25 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year
are as follows:
Fair value

adjustment arising

25

ELREBHRAE
REREAR REFMGHAEZEEHN
T

from business Withholding Lease
combinations tax liabilities Total
REEBEHZ
DNEERE AR HEAE #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THAT THET THET THET
At 1 January 2019 —NE—A—A (646) (30,624) - (31,270)
Currency translation EHME=E
differences @) 516 = 512
Credited/(charged) to the EBRERAA(XH)
profit or loss (Note 11) (B EE11) 303 66 @8) 361
At 31 December 2019 —hE+=A=+—8 (347) (30,042) 8) (30,397)
At 1 January 2020 R-E-TF— (347) (30,042) (8) (30,397)
Currency translation ERMEEE
differences 32 (2,586) (1) (2,555)
Credited/(charged) to the EBRERFA(XH)
profit or loss (Note 11) (B EE11) 297 (1,335) 1 (1,037)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZE-_TF+=-A=+—H (18) (33,963) (8) (33,989)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
HK$16.9 million (2019: HK$20.7 million) in respect of losses
amounting to HK$68.5 million (2019: HK$83.9 million) that can
be carried forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses have no expiry dates except tax losses of HK$65.7 million
(2019: HK$81.1 million) which will expire at various dates up to

2025 (2019: 2024).

REIBES

7K £5 B 3P 4% 51 /B 868,500,000/ 7T (=
Z — J14F : 83,900,000/ Jr) ¥ R IR 1T
T 18 i & E16,900,0008 7t (ZZ —Hh
4 : 20,700,000/ 1) AL LB HH &
FERRBIUR A - 5% 5 % I8 B3 18 I & fE A
FREH - 1f£65,700,000/8 7T (ZE— .4 :
81,100,000 7t) = i 18 /&5 18 Bl #§ A &
EECRAF(ZE-NEFE ZEMF)
W2 RBEE® -
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NEABMBBENS

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26

PE 1S AR R I H fth FE {5 X

2020 2019

—E-%F —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHT FHET

Trade payables FESBR 3R 305 260
Payables for acquisition and constructon HHBE R ZRYE -

of property, plant and equipment 2S5 2 BT AR 73,223 173,108

Other payables and accruals EMEMNRRETE R 10,637 13,910

84,165 187,278

The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date at year

RER - REZAHE D2 BARFKE

end was as follows: RO
2020 2019
—E-FF —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T TAETT
Less than 12 months LR+ —1@ A 291 247
12 months and more +—@EA RN E 14 13
305 260

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

ARG B 7 AN R R S EL At FE AN SR 2 BR

EEZRATE®SIE:

2020 2019

= —TNF

HK$°000 HK$'000

TERT FAT

Hong Kong dollars BT 2,082 2,517
Renminbi AR 82,038 184,717
Singapore dollars N ot 45 44
84,165 187,278
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mEMBHRRME
27 COMMITMENTS 27 EIE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EAXREE
Capital expenditure at the reporting date but not vyet R EAHERERRNAEEZ
incurred was as follows: BRSO :
2020 2019
—EZEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET F#& T
Contracted but not provided for capital 2 &I 4B ARG BRI HE
expenditure in respect of renewable  AERIER 2 B AR X
energy projects B - 69,882
(b) Lease commitments (b) FHEXIE
As at 31 December 2020, the total future lease payments RZEZZEF+=—_H=+—8"
for leases committed and not yet commenced in respect Mt EEFEABRM® KRR
of land and buildings were HK$0.2 million (2019: HK$2.0 REENRKEMNEERERE
million). 7%200,000 T(Z T — L &

2,000,000 7T) °

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28 BEEBARS

The Group entered into transactions with the following related BEZ-_TFR=-_FT—NF+=A=

parties for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, T—HIEFE - BRire Bz M

in addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated ST RSN - AR B ZEE TSI BT AT

financial statements. 2R o

(@) The Company entered into a 3-year office sharing (@ ARARHBEERITLAH=F
agreement with HKC, under which HKC agreed to lease W AELZWE B B
out certain area of the office space commencing from BERBE-E_ZTF—H—H&£H
1 January 2020 in consideration of HK$2.0 million. The EHAETHAZTEHES - K
fee was charged based on the terms mutually agreed. 722,000,000 7T - HERER
As at 31 December 2020, the balances of right-of-use B R T 2 R T R .
asset and lease liability related to the office amounted RZEZZEF+=-_H=+—8"
to HK$1.2 million (2019: Nil) and HK$1.3 million (2019: HERAERMENERAEEEME
Nil) respectively. During the year ended 31 December EaEAER DRI &R1,200,000% 7T
2020, the depreciation and interest expenses amounted (ZE— N5 : &) %1,300,0007%8
to HK$0.6 million (2019: Nil) and HK$0.1 million (2019: Nil) T(ZE-NF |\ BE_T=
respectively. TFEF+_A=+—HLEFE

ERA B Y5 R A600,000/8 7T
(ZZ— 4 : £)K%100,0007% 7T
—E-NF 8o
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NRE M RRM

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Administrative services fee, which includes the office
overhead, and reimbursement of cost of internal audit,
legal and information technology department of HK$1.1
million (2019: HK$1.1 million) was paid to HKC. The fee
was charged based on the terms mutually agreed.

Office rental of HK$0.6 million (2019: HK$0.6 million) was
paid to HKC. Besides, rooftop rental of HK$0.2 million
(2019: HK$0.2 million) was paid to the Huzhou Nanxun
International Building Market Center Company Limited,
which is a subsidiary under HKC. The fee was charged
based on the terms mutually agreed.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, interest
expenses on amount due to a shareholder amounted to
HK$8.8 million (2019: HK$10.4 million).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group received guarantee
from HKC in respect of credit facilities granted to
subsidiaries of HK$49 million (2019: HK$112 million).

The above related party transactions are continuing connected

transactions exempt from the
announcement and

review,
approval

reporting, annual
independent shareholders’

requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange.
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28 FEA

(b)

()

(d)

(€)

5‘5 % : )
mEBER iﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ
BRERAZEEHET UREN
NEBE T AR R EMBHEEM
X 751,100,000/ 7T (=& — N4
1,100,000/ 7T) - HE A ZRIEE
77 H[E T 2 6 R T R o

MEBERXIMNABRLAERE
600,000 T(= & — S F:
600,000 JT) ° Uk Sh - | & B
ERETHBARBMNESH
REMBER AR XNEIEM
200,000/ T(Z & — N F:
200,000 7T) - HE H ZIRIEE
77 B 5 T 2 6 BT YRER o

HIE=—TE=_TF+=-A=+—H
IEFE pEM—ZREREBEZ
A B 5 5% 58,800,000/ T (==
— L% : 10,400,00058 7T) °

RZEZTF+=—A=+—8"
REBERMBRARERZEE
MEWIESEIRBZER
49,000,000 T (= & — L F:
112,000,000 7T) °

LB AR SIRIEBAES LT
B ([EmAR B ]) B514A.33{% A1 & 4

CETABHEE  FEEX -
TRBRRAERTE 255 B E

QW&%
% o
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mEMBHRRME
28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 28 BEHMAERZ (E)
() Key management compensation ) FEEBEAEZHRMH
Key management solely represents directors of the FTEERABEEARAES
Company. The compensation paid or payable to key ENSENEEERE AB 2R
management is shown as below: HANWT
2020 2019
—EZEF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F& T
Directors’ fees Yk 809 765
Salaries and other benefits Fe Rk EAMAmRET 3,166 2,733
Pension cost — defined contribution 3Rk E AN — FEE 4 =%
scheme &2l 65 54
4,040 082
(g) As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided guarantee (90 RZZEZZTF+=—A=+—H"
to a counter party in respect of a credit facility granted to REBEG —HBEEARERZ
an associate of HK$57.2 million (2019: HK$66.9 million). FEREMHEELTREB/ER
57,200,000% 7T (= & — 1L F -
66,900,000 JT.) °
The above transactions did not constitute connected P ZGUTERB R EmRAE
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on MAEMMAE ZBERS °

the Stock Exchange.
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NEABMBBENS

29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29

mERERERKFE
CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to (@ FBHAIRAELEMER
cash generated from operations S ZHER
2020 2019
—EZEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Profit before income tax FT 15 % Bl & A 96,327 65,994
Finance costs =N 40,200 27,501
Finance income RN (2,695) (2,625)
Depreciation and amortisation T B K g 98,458 87,718
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME  WEBRZHEZ
plant and equipment &S ¢ 7 3,280
Write-off of construction in progress 7t i T 72 #fl $4 4,199 -
Loss arising from liquidation of a REWBAREHE < EE
subsidiary - 1,120
Share of results of associates JEL B & N E) LA (54,279) (48,871)
Operating profit before working capital % i& & & & &) 2
changes i 182,203 134,117
Increase in inventories FEEm (5,827) (31)
Increase in trade and other JE 52 AR R R L b JE SR
receivables 30 (75,007) (85,169)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other [& 15 BR 3k I H fth f& {7 3%
payables OGR4 /3% hn (2,575) 45,267
Cash generated from operations KEFBR S 98,794 94,184
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mEMBHRRME
29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29 ZREBRERERM T E)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) METBELENEEHER
activities
Liabilities from financing activities
METHFEAEE
Amount
Bank due to a Lease
borrowings shareholder liabilities Total
BN—%
RATIER KRRRE HEE®E #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
FHx FHEx FTHT FHEx
At 1 January 2020 R-E-T5—F—AH (648,502)  (197,733) (675)  (846,910)
Cash outflows — principal, net Rent -4Ae 58 13,820 - - 13,820
Cash outflows - interest payment RemE - FERK - 9,676 - 9,676
Cash outflows — payment for lease Rend - SHREAERE
liabilities (including interest) (BHEFB) - - 1,103 1,103
Capitalisation and amortisation of RITEEERANER(LMN
upfront fee for bank facility fee, net B FHE (2,444) - - (2,444)
Foreign exchange adjustments E=EB)HE (36,126) - (16) (36,142)
Accrued interest expenses ML HEHR - (8,817) - (8,817)
Other non-cash movement HtFERES RS - - (1,915) (1,915)
At 31 December 2020 R-B-TE+-A=+-8 (673,252)  (196,874) (1,503)  (871,629)
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-NF—A—H (505,960) (197,511) = (703,471)
Cash inflows — principal, net BERA - 4KE - F8E (163,791) = = (163,791)
Cash outflows - interest payment Remd - faF% = 10,224 - 10,224
Cash outflows — payment for lease Remt - SNEEAERE
liabilities (including interest) (BHEFE) = = 119 119
Capitalisation and amortisation of RITEEERANER A
upfront fee for bank facility fee, net B FE 10,246 = = 10,246
Foreign exchange adjustments EXFHFHE 11,003 = 13 11,016
Accrued interest expenses B X TR - (10,446) - (10,446)
Other non-cash movement HihER SN - - (807) (807)
At 31 December 2019 R-E—NE+-A=+-8 (648,502) (197,733) (675)  (846,910)
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30

.- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

“ERE BB RR AR

ZEREszeMTIA
Financial
assets
at amortised
cost
REBERATE
ZEMEE
HK$’000
FEx
Assets as per consolidated statement of REEMBERRRATIEE
financial position
31 December 2019 —E-NFEF+ZHA=+—H
Trade and other receivables (Note 19) JE LT B SR B HL At i L SR (B 3E19) 366,040
Restricted Cash (Note 20) R %138 € (M 5£20) 2,342
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) Re MF e FEY (K :E20) 307,415
Total HmEt 675,797
31 December 2020 —E-_FEF+_A=+—H
Trade and other receivables (Note 19) JE LA BR SR R E At Uk SR (BT 5E19) 480,276
Restricted Cash (Note 20) PR 38 & (M 5£20) 2,502
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) RHe kB 2EEY (K :E20) 190,405
Total it 673,183
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBEKARTE
ZEmEesE
HK$’000
FET
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of REeMERRKRATER
financial position
31 December 2019 —T-hFE+=ZA=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) R 77 18 3R (Fff 5£23) 648,502
Trade and other payables (Note 26) JE 151 BR 3Kk B L Ath JE A 30 (BT 5E26) 187,278
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) JE 5 — %8 B R 3B (B 3£ 24) 197,733
Lease liabilities HEEE 675
Total it 1,034,188
31 December 2020 —E_FFET_HA=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) R 17 18 7 (Fff 5E23) 673,252
Trade and other payables (Note 26) JE AT BR 3 % E At FE 5 3R (P 5 26) 84,165
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) JE 45 — & A% 3 5K 38 (9 5E24) 196,874
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,503
Total #Et 955,794
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RE KRR EE
31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company D\ B 7 AR R &R
2020 2019
= A
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NN A 11,423 10,693
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,209 -
I 12632 10693
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H th i UL X 121 237
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NGRS 1,596,436 1,505,087
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMIBEeEEY 90,288 79,651
Total current assets REBEEHAE 1,686,845 1,584,975
Total assets EEHAE 1,699,477 1,595,668
EQUITY FE =
Capital and reserves attributable ZAATEFIZTHARE
to equity holders of the MELRFE
Company
Share capital & 2 25,062 25,062
Reserves 1 a 1,053,775 1,014,090
Total equity s 1,078,837 1,039,152
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE S 233,960 257,134
Amount due to a shareholder JE— BB FRIB 196,874 197,733
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,257 -
Other payables H {th B 3R 1,049 1,649
Bank borrowings |ITENK 187,500 100,000
Total current liabilities nEBaEe®E 620,640 556,516
Total equity and liabilities ERRBEHRE 1,699,477 1,595,668

OEIl Kang, Eric
= [l
Director

EF

LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel

RERHR

Director

EF
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31 AXQPFHMBRARRFEEES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
Note (a) Reserves movement of the Company MeF@AQaFESS
Other
Share Exchange reserve Retained
premium reserve (Note) earnings Total
Hit %7
BRDEE EXRE (aE) REBAR Aot

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TR TEx TET FTET TET

Balance at 1 January 2019 RZEBE-NF-—A—HZ&H 925,856 (15,511) 98,709 54,873 1,068,927
Currency translation differences [ERMEERE = (22,103) = = (22,103)
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (20049  (20,049)
Loss for the year REEEE = = = (7,685) (7,685)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+=A=+—H
b1 925,856 (37,614) 98,709 27139 1,014,090
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZZEZZF—HA—BHzZ&#% 925,856 (37,614) 98,709 27,139 1,014,090
Currency translation differences ERBEES - 69,393 - - 69,393
Dividend paid BERKE - - - (20,049)  (20,049)
Loss for the year rEEEBR - - - (9,659) (9,659)
Balance at 31 December 2020 RZE=EF+=-A=+—H
o 925,856 31,779 98,709 (2,569) 1,053,775
Note: The other reserve of the Company related to an acquisition prior to 1 Mia: ARRzHEMBEHERE-_ZTT—F—HA—H
January 2001 and continues to be held in reserves. Aiz—HWEEEER  TESBDBER
i o
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REMB WK

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive office BEERITHRAHNFT MO T
is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BHE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—HLEFE

Employer’s
contribution to
a retirement

Discretionary benefit
Name of Director Fees Salaries* bonuses* scheme? Total
EHREFE 2
EEgE Be Her BE L AL EEIEE mat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET TET TET TERT
OFEl Kang, Eric* = il 75 1,124 198 18 1,415
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel R EIR 75 640 101 18 834
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy HER 75 601 79 18 773
Lee Shiu Yee, Daniel FER 44 368 55 11 478
YU Hon To, David EE 180 - - - 180
TIAN Yuchuan e 180 - - - 180
ZHANG Songyi REE 180 - - - 180
809 2,733 433 65 4,040
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE_ZT-NF+A=+—RHIEFE
Employer’s

contribution to
a retirement

Discretionary benefit
Name of Director Fees Salaries* bonuses* scheme* Total
RAK&tEl2
EEH®HSF e et BfETEAT B EHHR Foy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET FHET
OEl Kang, Eric* =l 75 1,161 136 18 1,390
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel R EIR 75 660 55 18 808
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy =ER 75 646 75 18 814
YU Hon To, David MERE 180 - - - 180
TIAN Yuchuan HE) 180 = = = 180
ZHANG Songyi EE% 180 - - - 180
765 2,467 266 54 3,552
* Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric is the chief executive officer of the Group. * HEMRERRNER ZITHRER -
# The amounts represented emoluments in respect of services provided 8 HeBRRTCHEEERRASEMEB AR
in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its MEFKBREBATIREREOFTHN -

subsidiaries undertaking.
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NEABMBBENS

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (continued)

During the year, no housing allowance, other benefits and
remunerations in respect of accepting office as director were
paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of their services
as directors (2019: same). During the year, no emoluments were
paid or receivable by the directors in respect of director’s other
services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2019: same).

(A)

(B)

(©)

(D)

146 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2020

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year, no retirement benefits were paid to or
receivable by the directors in respect of their services as
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or other
services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2019: same).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year, no payments or benefits in respect of
termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable
(2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, no consideration was provided to or
receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2019: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2019: Nil).

32 EERTBARZENRER

(4= )

AEEAR BMEESHETCESHS
BN BRERER  EMEHN R
Me(—T—NAF:BRAER) KNFE
N HESEREETEARARFRENE
REVEH LR ¢ 2 b AR5 %
UM e (ZF—NF - BERER) -

(A)

(B)

(€)

(D)

ESRHKEF

AEER  BEESERELAR
AMENBARESTARERR
REAXEMBERARNEBMEEH— 2
Hfth AR 755 2 S < 3K FE WOR K48 A
—F-AFBRMERD -

ESRBER

AEERN  BERLLEEERG
MERKFE R A EE N HIEL
AR 58 3R 3K A8 A I F2 A 7] FE A 3K
H(ZFE—NE E&)-

RENESREMEAE=7X
T2z E

AEERN - HEREREZRY
MENE=THE=TRKZK
B(ZE-NF:8)-

FBLES ESZEHE
ErEEEEAREAZE
M EERRAEMRZZER

AEER  BELEE EB2
S EERBEE B AT A
2R RRRARMRS (ZF
—hE ) -
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REMB WK

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (continued)

(E)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 23 “Bank borrowings” and
Note 28 “Related party transactions” to the consolidated
financial statements, the transactions with HKC and
its subsidiaries and in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric was
interested, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

32

(45 )

(E)

ESRTHRARZEIRER

EERRS  R¥FEHENFZ
EXER

Brir e MR M 23[R 1T
K K MY FE28 BBt 77 R B AT i
BE ERZBERNENBEARR
AREREEREREE RS 2
RHON - NRE) I AR B X
BARREENHEFERIMBE
BAEERED  MRAFERE
RN A FER AR EFED
BEARS  RHEREK °
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NEABMBBENS

- .
[
f

Rt e,

FTEMNBLAARBE QT
TRENEZRREAEEXER
FEEFEBRIEZEZHNBLRA

BB E AT -

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33
Listed below are the subsidiaries and associates which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net
assets of the Group.

Issued share
capital/Paid up

Place of incorporation/

operation and kind of Percentage of equity/

Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital Paid up registered capital held
HEMRLEEH BRATRE/ k-t 3-8
8 RieERER TEEH BAEmEX EQEmELEI L
2020 2019

ZBZBE  —ZTNF

Subsidiaries

B 1 2 &)

China Renewable Energy (Nanxun) Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

FEBERR(FERERAA &%/ HE REER 1T

China Renewable Energy (Services) Limited Hong Kong Human resources HK$1 100% 100%

management

TEEERERER)BRAR EE ANBRER 1T

China Renewable Energy (Songxian) Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

FREBARRER)BRAF+ BB/ HE REER 18T

HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

EEMEROOT) ZRBR DA+ BE/HE REZK 18T

HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$4 100% 100%

BEHER(ERTREFRAF+ &%/ HE REZRK 4ET

HKE (Gansu) Wind Power Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

EEMERHEB)REERAA+ &%/ HE REER 1T

Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi) Wind Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$2 100% 100%

Power Limited+
FEHEREFEHEREERAR+ &%/ HE REER 28T
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi ll) Wind ~ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000 100% 100%
Power Limited+

EENEREFEIE-_BREEROF+ &%/ HE REER 1,000/ 7T

Sinoriver International (Wind Power) Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$20 100% 100%

BB (RE)BRAF+ B/ HE REEK 20/ 7T

HKE (BVI) Limited+ British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% 100%

BEHERBERAR+ EBRAEES REZK E

HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding Us$1 100% 100%

EEMER(RE)ERERAF EBRAEE REZRK 1%

HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power Limited+ British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1,000 100% 100%

BENERERTBV)REERAA+ EBRAES REER 1,000% 7T
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REMB WK

33

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33

TEMBLRIREBE QTR

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued share
operation and kind of capital/Paid up Percentage of equity/
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital Paid up registered capital held
MR BE Y BRITRE/ iE-2 374
% RERERER TEXH BHERER BAEMELEIL
2020 2019
ZEZEF  —E-NF
Subsidiaries
KEQR
Sinoriver International Limited+ British Virgin Islands/ Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
PRC
FINERER D+ RERLHE/HE REER 1ET
APC Wind Power Pte Limited+ Singapore Investment holding SGD10 100% 100%
A0 REER 1037 N3 7T
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company Ltd.+ PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in HK$100,000,000 86% 86%
joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
SNENEEHMLERAA+ mE/RhaBRE RABEZEIZEN 100,000,000/ 7T
LBIEA
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) Co. Ltd.+ PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in HK$150,100,000 86.68% 86.68%
joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
ERERNEE(BR)BERAR+ HE/RINEELE RARERETZEN 150,100,000 7T
ZBIEA
BEFMERNTEEREGRAA+ PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB166,480,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
hENEEE LR RPBERNTANFER  ARY%166480,0007T
ZENEEER
PREHEERN T EEREERA A+ PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB172,526,500 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
FRENEEELR RABRNSAEFER  AR¥172526,5007T
ZENEEIER
Songxian HKE Wind Power Limited+ PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB210,000,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Songxian, Henan,
the PRC
EEBRRAERRAT+ hENEEE LR RPBETEEH @SN ARY210,000,0007T
BEHA
Huzhou HKE Energy Limited+ PRC wholly foreign- Distributed solar project RMB15,000,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise in Nanxun, Zhejiang,
the PRC
N R RE R AR+ RESNEBE X R BHIEEZ AR #15,000,0007C
AMHAARGREIER
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33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33

TEMBLARBE QTE

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued share
operation and kind of capital/Paid up Percentage of equity/
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital Paid up registered capital held
HMRYLEE BRITRE/ E=2 -4
% hraERER TEXEH BAZMES EAEMEAESL
2020 2019
ZECRF ZENE
Associates
BE AT
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power Company PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB589,620,000 40% 40%
Limited+# joint venture Changma, Gansu,
the PRC
RERERE(HBBENEEERAA+ R RNEE R E RAEBEHBEFZ A R #589,620,0007C
RAO%EIER
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited+# PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB545,640,000 40% 40%
joint venture Danjinghe, Hebei,
the PRC
RERERR N B E(RIE)ERAA+ RERINAERE R B b B & 2 A R #545,640,0007C
RmHEEIEE
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited+# PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB323,260,000 30% 30%
joint venture Lunaobao, Hebei,
the PRC
RERE B R N EE (RIL) ERAF+ R RNEE R E iNEOEBI- 3 kb A R #323,260,0007T
RAOEEIER
Remarks: et
+ Interest held by subsidiaries. + EEEBAREER -
# Unofficial English transliterations or translations for identification purpose # FERBEXFERBE  EBHE -
only.
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Five-year Financial Summary

EFEMBEHME

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECZEF E-hEFE —E-NF E—+tF —T—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FAET FHET FHET FATT

Consolidated statement of S&A&ZHEBRERE
comprehensive income

Revenue U = 206,122 181,223 149,496 131,343 130,998
Profit before income tax FfT 15 35t A1l 4 7 96,327 65,994 72,266 70,314 64,980
Income tax expense FT{3 B2 (10,261) (8,145) (9,313) (9,364) (6,834)
Profit for the year NEF E i A 86,066 57,849 62,953 60,950 58,146
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FEME & F,/(B18) -
Equity holders of the Company ZARAR#E#HEH A 86,152 57,376 62,254 60,330 61,098
Non-controlling interests FE 1 e feE = (86) 473 699 620 (2,952)
86,066 57,849 62,953 60,950 58,146

Consolidated statement of H& BRI R

financial position
Net current assets mBEEFE 234,665 119,489 35,924 64,685 147,590
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,265,559 2,162,796 2,106,065 2,062,779 1,830,617
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (586,825) (552,723) (414,720) (384,107) (414,536)
Net assets including non- EEFE

controlling interests (PR IEIE R R) 1,913,399 1,729,562 1,727,269 1,743,357 1,563,671
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECTE ZE-hF ZE-N\F ZT—+tF T F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHET FHETT FAETT

Share capital % 25,062 25,062 25,062 23,647 23,564
Reserves i 1,889,257 1,705,305 1,703,504 1,721,779 1,542,629
Non-controlling interests FE1E e o (920) (805) (1,297) (2,069) 2,522)
Total equity g 1,913,399 1,729,562 1,727,269 1,743,357 1,563,671
Earnings per share BRER

- basic (HK cents) - EARCEW) 3.44 2.29 2.54 2.56 2.59
Dividend per share Rz &

- attributable to the year - RNEF A (BIL)

(HK cents) 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.3 0.4

Return on total equity (Note) 4 & 48 %8 [B] 77 =& (ff 5%) 4.50% 3.34% 3.64% 3.50% 3.72%
Note: B 5 -

Return on total equity represents profit/loss for the year expressed as a percentage of 1 m #FEMERARFLEGF EIREHEHFEE 2F
the closing total equity for the year concerned. BETBBZADL -
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China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
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9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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